

---

---

# *Commission Meeting*

of

## APPORTIONMENT COMMISSION

*"Testimony from the public on the establishment of legislative districts  
in New Jersey that will be in effect for the next 10 years"*

---

---

**LOCATION:** Leroy Smith Public Safety Building  
Newark, New Jersey

**DATE:** February 9, 2011  
6:00 p.m.

**MEMBERS OF COMMISSION PRESENT:**

Assemblyman John S. Wisniewski, Co-Chair  
Assemblyman Jay Webber, Co-Chair  
Nilsa Cruz-Perez, Vice Chair  
Irene Kim Asbury, Vice Chair  
Senator Paul A. Sarlo  
Senator Kevin O'Toole  
Assemblyman Joseph Cryan  
Assemblywoman Sheila Y. Oliver  
Bill Palatucci



**ALSO PRESENT:**

Frank J. Parisi  
*Commission Secretary*  
*Office of Legislative Services*

*Meeting Recorded and Transcribed by*  
The Office of Legislative Services, Public Information Office,  
Hearing Unit, State House Annex, PO 068, Trenton, New Jersey

---

---

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>Page</u>
Joseph N. DiVincenzo Jr. County Executive County of Essex	12
Senator M. Teresa Ruiz District 29	14
Senator Ronald L. Rice District 28	16
Jerry Harris Co-Chairman New Jersey Legislative Redistricting Coalition	22
Tom Jackson Representing New Jersey Legislative Redistricting Coalition	23
Assemblyman Albert Coutinho District 29	24
Marcia Marley President BlueWave New Jersey	28
Ann Rea Member Steering Committee BlueWave New Jersey	29
Anibal Ramos Jr. Councilman North Ward City of Newark	30
William Colón President and Chief Executive Officer The Latino Institute, Inc.	31

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

	<u>Page</u>
Rahaman Muhammad President Local 617 New Jersey State Council Service Employees International Union	33
Darrin S. Sharif Councilman Central Ward City of Newark	35
Christian Estevez Executive Vice President Latino Action Network	36
James E. Harris President New Jersey State Conference National Association for the Advancement of Colored People	48
George B. Gore Chairman Political Action/Civil Engagement Committee New Jersey State Conference National Association for the Advancement of Colored People	49
Eldridge Hawkins Jr. Mayor City of Orange Township	51
Gregory Payton Executive Vice President Local 1081 Communications Workers of America	53
Victor DeLuca Mayor Township of Maplewood	55

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

	<u>Page</u>
Susan Gartland Private Citizen	56
Reginald Jones Private Citizen	57
Bob Davison Private Citizen	59
Rex Reid Political Action Director New Jersey Administrative Council 1 American Federation of State, County, and Municipality Employees/AFL-CIO	60
Rudy Fernandez Mayor Township of Livingston	61
Gary Schneiderman Councilman Township of Livingston	62
Gayle Chaneyfield Jenkins Private Citizen	63
William E. Schluter Former Senator New Jersey State Senate	65
Carmen Southward Private Citizen	71
Lori Ruzich Private Citizen	80
Karen Beal Private Citizen	82
10-4 Evans Private Citizen	84

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

	<u>Page</u>
Joseph Nardone Private Citizen	86
Leonard Thomas Private Citizen	87
Margarita Muniz President Latinas United for Political Empowerment	90
Richard Groves Private Citizen	96
Sam Spina Private Citizen	96
Louis Shockley Private Citizen	99
Jeff Gardner Chair Hawthorne Democratic Committee	102
Alan Lewis Private Citizen	104
Tomas R. Gomez Representing DOPOR (Dominican Political Representation)	105
Donna Jackson Private Citizen	107
Francisco González Member Board of Education Elizabeth Public Schools	110
Carlos Lucio Private Citizen	111

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

	<u>Page</u>
Yalitza Torres Private Citizen	113
Anna “Cuqui” Rivera Case Manager Newark Prisoner Reentry Program La Casa de Don Pedro	114
Florencia Scuderi Private Citizen	119
John Arvanites Private Citizen	120
Maria Teresa Feliciano President Dominican American National Roundtable	123
Jose M. Sandoval Private Citizen	131
<b>APPENDIX:</b>	
Testimony submitted by Senator Ronald L. Rice	1x
Testimony submitted by Anibal Ramos Jr.	5x
Testimony submitted by William Colón	6x
Testimony submitted by Rahaman Muhammad	9x

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)**

### **APPENDIX (continued):**

	<b><u>Page</u></b>
Testimony submitted by George B. Gore	12x
Testimony submitted by Gregory Payton	14x
Testimony submitted by Reginald Jones	16x
Testimony submitted by Rex Reid	18x
Testimony, plus charts submitted by William E. Schluter	19x
Testimony submitted by Margarita Muniz	35x
Testimony submitted by Anna “Cuqui” Rivera	39x
rs:1-133	

**ASSEMBLYMAN JOHN S. WISNIEWSKI (Co-Chair):**

Ladies and gentlemen, if you'd take your seats, we'd like to begin.

Good evening, everyone. I would like to call this public hearing of the New Jersey legislative Apportionment Commission to order.

Mr. Parisi, would you please take the roll?

MR. PARISI (Secretary): Certainly, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Sarlo.

SENATOR SARLO: Here.

MR. PARISI: Bill Palatucci.

MR. PALATUCCI: Here.

MR. PARISI: Senator O'Toole.

SENATOR O'TOOLE: Here.

MR. PARISI: Speaker Oliver.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Here.

MR. PARISI: George Gilmore. (no response)

Assemblyman Cryan.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: Here.

MR. PARISI: Vice Chair Irene Kim Asbury.

MS. KIM ASBURY: Here.

MR. PARISI: Vice Chair Nilsa Cruz-Perez.

MS. CRUZ-PEREZ: Here.

MR. PARISI: Co-Chair Jay Webber.

**ASSEMBLYMAN JAY WEBBER (Co-Chair):** Here.

MR. PARISI: Co-Chair John Wisniewski.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Present.

MR. PARISI: You have a quorum.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Chairman, if I might, Chairman (*sic*) Gilmore is out of state on business, otherwise he'd be here. He sends his regrets.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: We'll note that in the record.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: We had that discussion early on that sometimes it's not possible for everybody to make all of these. So we understand.

The first order of business is, I would like to talk about our procedure tonight just so that everybody is clear and has the correct expectations.

First of all, as a housekeeping measure, if you have a cell phone or pager -- if you would be so kind as to either switch it off or on to silent so as to not interrupt the testimony. If you are interested in providing testimony to the Commission, there are white sheets at the table in the foyer. If you would fill one out with your name and your affiliation, and hand it to Mr. Parisi or one of the staff members, we will then be able to know you wish to speak and call upon you. If you have any prepared remarks, we'd appreciate it if you would provide that to us as well.

We are going to try to have a five-minute time window for each individual or group of individuals who testify. We understand that you may wish to speak longer. We'd like to make sure everybody here who has come tonight has that opportunity. And so after everybody has had that opportunity, and you feel the need to say additional remarks, we will certainly entertain that. Sometimes someone in front of you may come up

and make precisely the point that you came here tonight to make. And while we do not want to deny anyone the opportunity to come up, it would certainly facilitate the process if you would acknowledge that that point has been made, associate yourself with those remarks, provide any written comments you have as opposed to just repeating the exact same testimony. It's your call. Everybody has five minutes. Mr. Parisi will be keeping the time.

We have one housekeeping item that we have to take care of at the outset with regard to the preparation of the minutes. Is there a motion?

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: So moved.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: And the motion is to have our minutes prepared by the Office of Legislative Services as opposed to an outside agency.

Is there a second?

MR. PALATUCCI: Second.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Roll call, Mr. Parisi.

How about we just say all those in favor? (affirmative responses)

And the opposed? (no response)

Carried.

With that, I'm going to make an opening statement; and I know that Chairman -- Co-Chairman Webber has one; and then we will start with our testimony.

Tonight marks the first North Jersey public hearing of the New Jersey Apportionment Commission, and the third overall public hearing of the Commission. I would like to thank Essex County Executive Joseph

DiVincenzo for the hospitality in this very spacious meeting room, very conveniently located, and all members of his staff who helped make this evening possible; as well to Frank Parisi, and the Office of Legislative Services and their staff who are here tonight facilitating the transcription of the record and providing the microphones; and the support staff.

As I said before -- but it bears repeating for those of you who have not come to this hearing prior to tonight -- the Apportionment Commission is established under Article IV, Section III of our State Constitution and is charged with the mission of adopting a map that is going to reflect New Jersey's legislative districts for the next 10 years.

The process, which is, again, constitutionally prescribed, starts with the receipt of Census data by this Commission. That happened last Thursday. And so with that event, this Commission is given no later than two months to adopt a map that will govern legislative elections from this November 2011 through November of 2019. Our deadline for crafting this map is probably the most compressed anywhere in the United States. We are the first ones to engage in this process, and we will be the first ones to have a map. Other states will follow suit, but we are operating literally under a 60-day clock, and there are 53 days left in that 60-day clock from today.

The Commission is comprised, by the Constitution, of five Republicans and five Democrats. And if it appears within 30 days that both sides cannot reach an agreement on a new map -- which has incidentally, historically been the case in map making in New Jersey -- an 11th member of the Commission is appointed by the Chief Justice of the

New Jersey Supreme Court. And that will happen no later than one month after the Census data was received, so roughly March 3 or thereabouts.

One of the things to bear in mind is, our model of redistricting is superior than just about any other state, because we have a Commission. Thirty-seven states assign the legislature the responsibility of preparing a bill and drafting a legislative map. And having the 11th member as a tiebreaker provides a neutral prospect against placing partisan interests against the public interest in this process.

In fact, although the redistricting process in New Jersey and across the country has been considered a political exercise, it should be reminded that the responsibility in drafting this map is not for the political purpose but for the people. To that end, there are legal parameters and criteria that we must abide by in order to protect against improper map making. We must comply with the one man, one vote standard for legislative maps. Those districts that we create must be compact and they must be contiguous.

It's also appropriate to consider prior core districts from the existing map and communities of interest throughout the process. And, of course, our map needs to comply with Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act. It cannot be discriminatory in any way, shape, or form. In short, the map we adopt must be fair and must be constitutional, and it must look forward, not backwards.

With that in mind, we are here to craft a new map for the next decade, not look at the map from the last decade. Given our short timeframe, our attention and focus must be on moving forward, not backwards. Public input in this process is essential. That's why we're here

tonight, that's why we had two prior hearings and we have one scheduled for this Sunday in Jersey City.

Chairman Webber and I are pleased to announce that the Commission's official website, [www.apportionmentcommission.org](http://www.apportionmentcommission.org), is now up and running. It includes background information on each of the Commission members, our process, our timetable. For those who did not make the prior hearings, it includes transcripts of those hearings. It includes documents from the prior meetings and notices for future meetings.

Also, the site allows for public input. At some point tonight we will run out of testimony, and the lights will be shut off. But the hearing will continue, because the website will allow anyone here, anyone who is not here, anyone who can't make it to these hearings to continue to provide us input -- either with written comments, or they can submit documents at that website.

Both Democrat and Republican Commissioners, at the last hearing, agreed to invite Dr. Alan Rosenthal, who is widely considered the presumptive 11th member, to this hearing and to the Sunday hearing in Jersey City. Dr. Rosenthal has respectfully declined that invitation. That's okay. Dr. Rosenthal, as the 11th member, will have a role in this process at some point when the 30 days expire. And he has indicated an interest in participating in public hearings when his role becomes official.

I'm confident that the level of public input we have during this process, including suggestions through the Commission's website, will lead to a new level of public participation that has not existed in this process in the past.

Let me conclude by saying that: From the ultimate map must emerge a legislative body reflective of our state, our people, and our diversity, and our political views for the next decade. We are charged with meeting the Constitution's mandate that every person's franchise is of equal weight. We must allow for a meaningful opportunity to elect a Legislature which will reflect the faces of our neighbors and encourage emerging communities to participate in our representative government. A map which fails to do so fails our mandate and fails our citizens.

Thank you.

Co-Chairman Webber.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Thank you, Chairman Wisniewski.

My name is Jay Webber. I'm the Chair of the Republican delegation to the Apportionment Commission.

Chairman Wisniewski gave a fairly thorough overview, so I don't want to go over too much of what the Chairman has already touched on.

I do want to echo his gratitude to the Essex County administration and County Executive DiVincenzo for inviting us and for hosting us. We're off to a great start, in large part due to you and your staff. So thank you very much.

I want to thank everyone who has come out on a very cold evening in February to be a part of this process. It only comes around once a decade. And that we could fill a room in Newark with interested citizens who want to learn more about this process and be involved in the process, I think, says a lot about our democracy in New Jersey. Public input is an

important part of this process. We appreciate you coming out; we look forward to hearing what you have to say: (a) we want to know what's on your mind, (b) we need your help.

We know that the map that we currently have -- the 40 districts in New Jersey that determine who the representatives are in Trenton -- both in the State Senate and the General Assembly -- are going to change, and they're going to change pretty significantly. In the last decade, we've seen demographic shifts and changes in our state. And the new map that we end up drawing will have to reflect those demographic changes and those demographic shifts.

Chairman Wisniewski alluded to some of the legal parameters that we have to respect as we draw this map. The United States Constitution's one person, one vote requirement; the State Constitution's requirements for keeping municipalities whole to the extent possible; and, of course, the Federal Voting Rights Act are three of the main legal parameters that we have to abide by. And there have been changes in each of those bodies of law in the last decade. The U.S. Supreme Court has come down with several decisions that will materially affect the way we do our work over the next 57 days -- whatever it is -- if we need that long. And so the legal parameters under which we work have changed dramatically, and that means the map is going to have to change dramatically to reflect that.

I want to echo, again, the Chairman's sentiments about the unprecedented nature of the open process that we're undertaking. We expect to have more public hearings than any Apportionment Commission has ever had. The website is, I think, an excellent development, and we

thank OLS for helping us develop it. But you're welcome both tonight, to participate through your testimony and also through our testimony, and going forward at future hearings -- Jersey City being the next one, on Sunday afternoon.

So with that, Chairman, I look forward to a lively session. And I throw it back to you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Chairman Webber.

Speaker Oliver.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Yes, thank you, Chairman.

Good evening, everyone, and welcome to this very important meeting -- this public hearing.

This is a once-a-decade process that is vital to the importance of our state. We all have differing views on public policy, but this much is clear: This exercise will determine the direction those and any number of other policies will go in New Jersey during the next 10 years. Which means, of course, that the outcome of this process must be a legislative map that is fair to every New Jerseyan; and enables a Legislature that actually looks like our state to exist, rather than packing minorities into as few districts as possible, as some would prefer. This map must be constitutional, it must be forward-looking, and it must give you a Legislature that is attuned to your life and to your needs. That's why your input is needed.

So I thank you for taking the time to speak with us tonight. As Chairman Wisniewski indicated, just last week the U.S. Census numbers for New Jersey were released. The hard work now begins to create a new legislative map that mirrors how New Jersey actually looks. We cannot

allow once-in-a-decade lip service to diversity to serve as a substitute for actual commitment to it. We must implement a map that allows the diversity present in our daily lives to be reflected. We must reject any strategy that limits that possibility. We rejected that possibility 10 years ago, and we have since seen an unprecedented influence of African-Americans and Latino legislators in Trenton.

Under the current map, we've had the first Latino Assembly Speaker, just the second in the nation, in now Congressman Albio Sires. I, myself, have had the distinct honor of becoming the first female African-American Speaker of the New Jersey General Assembly, just the second African-American woman to lead a state legislative house in this nation. I can point out that my legislative district, the 34th, has consistently elected two African-American legislators in the district throughout the decade, while having only one-third of its registered voters African-American. We've seen the election of the first Asian-Indian legislator, Upendra Chivukula, just the fourth in our nation's history. Fifty-six percent of the legislative committees in Trenton are either chaired or vice chaired by a minority legislator. Clearly, we have more work to do, but we should not turn the clock back during this process with a map that would pack minority citizens into as few legislative districts as possible.

Again, on behalf of the Apportionment Commission, I would like to thank you for coming out this evening. We're very pleased to have the opportunity to hear from you; and make certain that the commentary you place on the record will certainly be influencing our deliberations.

Thank you very much. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Speaker.

Commissioner Asbury.

MS. KIM ASBURY: Yes, thank you, Chairman.

Thank you, Chairmen, and thank you, Speaker Oliver for giving us--

SENATOR O'TOOLE: Irene, pull that closer to you so they can hear you. (referring to PA microphone)

MS. KIM ASBURY: All right. Thank you, Chairmen; thank you, Commissioners, and Speaker Oliver for giving us all something to think about as we go into this process.

I agree with Speaker Oliver. We need to bring more attention to the changes in New Jersey's minority communities, which have grown in the last decade. Hispanic and Asian-American populations have increased considerably, while the African-American population is almost 14 percent of the state. All this means that first, minorities are a presence in New Jersey that should have the opportunity to represent their communities at these public hearings. And second, the old legislative map drawn 10 years ago must be adjusted to reflect the changing face of this state.

Speaking as someone who lives in the most diverse areas in the country, I look forward to this open process. I'm committed to improving minority community access to government services, and this Commission is no exception. We all need to hear your views so that we can keep it in mind as we draw this map. We must redistrict in a manner that is fair, equitable, and constitutional. Everyone in New Jersey deserves the right to be treated fairly, equitably, and constitutionally.

That being said, all of us can't wait to hear from the public. We look forward to your input, and we all look forward to working with the many faces of New Jersey. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Commissioner.

Next, I'd like to recognize, for opening remarks, our host this evening. We are in the County of Essex. We are in one of the very nicely renovated buildings under his stewardship that Essex County is proud to have as the home of its government offices. Please welcome County Executive Joe DiVincenzo.

**C O U N T Y   E X E C .   J O S E P H   N .   D I V I N C E N Z O   J R :**  
Thank you, Chairman Wisniewski and Co-Chairman Jay Webber.

First of all, I want to thank all the Commissioners, the Democrats and Republicans--

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Can't hear you. Speak up.

COUNTY EXECUTIVE DiVINCENZO: This is my mike too. (laughter) This is my county.

Can you hear me now? (affirmative responses)

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: We hear you now.

COUNTY EXECUTIVE DiVINCENZO: I just want to welcome -- I said the Chairman Wisniewski and Co-Chairperson Jay Webber, the Democrats and Republicans, the Commissioners. You just saw Speaker Oliver and Vice Chair Asbury -- democracy in action. I mean, I love it. To be able to host this Commission meeting right here in Essex County -- in Newark, New Jersey-- I just want to thank you all for allowing

us-- I know we have a lot of Essex County residents here, but I also know there are residents throughout the State of New Jersey who are going to share their opinion with you on the way things should be. And I think it's great. And there's no question you have a very, very difficult job every 10 years. You can't make everyone happy. We all understand that. But you're going to try to do -- put the best possible map for New Jersey-- And I know -- I trust you are going to do a great job in doing that.

This particular facility here, believe it or not, was a jail. This was the old Newark Jail. We renovated this facility into what it is today, an office building. We have the Appellate Division, which wasn't in Newark for 25 years, is now seated right here at this complex. We have the New Jersey State Homeland Security here; we have our prosecutor, sheriff, and all our authorities here. And we're bringing in approximately \$1.7 million of revenue. And, of course, it overlooks the beautiful Society Hill here. And we actually took down a garage and built a park to be part of this beautiful complex.

So we're thrilled to have you here. I'll be listening to the testimony that is coming here. And I want to wish you all the very best, and thank you for making Essex County and Newark -- to be able to host this meeting.

Thank you very, very much. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, County Executive. Thank you for your hospitality.

I'd first like to call up Senator Teresa Ruiz.

**SENATOR M. TERESA RUIZ:** Good evening, everyone, and thank you for holding tonight's hearing in the great City of Newark, the great County of Essex, and certainly the greatest district in the state.

The decision you make during this process will impact our residents greatly, and I want to thank all of you for committing yourselves to this fair process.

Our population is large, and it is incredibly diverse. In fact, the strength of our entire state comes from its diversity, and so too must the strength of the Legislature. Latinos and African-American's together represent at least one-third of the population in 19 of our current 40 legislative districts. Statewide, we represent fully 30 percent of the population. New Jersey now boasts a Latino population in excess of 1.5 million residents, almost one in five New Jerseyans. Latinos now constitute over 10 percent of the population in 25 of our 40 legislative districts, and yet in the State Senate, there is only one Latina voice, mine. Before January of 2008 when I was sworn in, nearly 16 years -- 16 years -- had passed since the last Latino voice was heard in the Senate Chamber. It is extraordinary, it's profound, and certainly not right. It must be corrected.

While we work toward this goal, we should not overlook the strides that have been achieved: New Jersey's first Hispanic legislative presiding officer, Albio Sires; Commissioner Oliver, New Jersey's first African-American woman Speaker of the Assembly and only the second in the United States history -- we are so proud of you; Commissioner Nilsa Cruz-Perez, the first Latina to ever sit in the General Assembly, even though more than 80 percent of her prior legislative district was of non-

Hispanic voting age; and I, the first Latina elected to the Senate despite the fact that over 60 percent of my district is non-Hispanic voting age.

The current map, which does not endorse packing, produced the highest percentage of African-American, Latino, and Asian-American legislators in the history of New Jersey. We believe it is not necessary to concentrate minority citizens in order to elect minority legislators. Keep in mind that in the 1960s, prior to the one person, one vote decisions of the U.S. Supreme Court, our State Legislature was 99 percent white. We need to look for a map that is fair to the population as a whole. We need to build on the process we have made over the previous decades and not turn back the clock. Packing is not progress.

If you insist on minority packing in the name of strengthening one ethnic group's voice in one area of the state, you are inevitably diluting minority voices in another. As we have proven time and again over the past decade, New Jerseyans will vote for the candidates they feel will best represent their interests and communities, and that is what matters. People will always ask me, "What do you think is the most important task at hand when you enter the Senate Chambers?" And in addition to creating great legislation, fostering great community partnerships from one state to another, it is always at the forefront that I have an opportunity to make the decision -- policy-making tables in the State of New Jersey more reflective of all of our communities.

Maya Angelou stated, "We all should know that diversity makes for a rich tapestry. And we must understand that all the threads of the tapestry are equal in value, no matter what their color."

Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Senator.

Senator Ron Rice.

**S E N A T O R   R O N A L D   L.   R I C E:** Thank you, Mr. Chairpersons and committee for having this hearing and the others you're going to have.

Let me preface my remarks, because I know we're on the record -- and I also know this record is going to be probably presented in a court of law. Hopefully it doesn't, but it probably will. And the Supreme Court may not get an opportunity to see me. So I need to preface my remarks by letting the court know I'm an African-American State Senator.

I also want to say that Assemblywoman Louise Spencer could not be here tonight. She wanted to testify. She's in court as an attorney.

Let me just try to give -- use me as an example of what my expectations are and the expectations of our Civil Rights groups in this state, and those of us who are coalescing, trying to protect the interest of all incumbent legislators and candidates who may be running in our various districts.

I want to thank the committee for giving me an opportunity to go on the record today regarding the 2001 redistricting of the legislative districts here in New Jersey. What I personally know about and have experienced as an African-American candidate for the elected office -- for elected office, and as an incumbent Senator, would take many hours to articulate on this record, believe me.

However, I want the record to reflect what the present members of the Legislature appointed to this committee -- because some of you were around during that period of time -- already know: and that is what

occurred in the 2001 redistricting process of redrawing the legislative districts' boundary lines. What occurred during the 2001 redistricting was a clear violation of the 1965 Voting Rights Act in the 28th Legislative District -- which I represented and still represent -- and perhaps elsewhere in the state as well.

As a resident of the City of Newark's West Ward community for over 37 years at that time, and a resident of Newark for 46 years at that time, I served as the first African-American city councilperson -- member -- representing the West Ward for 16 years, and was serving in my 15th year in the New Jersey State Senate during the 2001 redistricting period.

In my capacity as the West Ward councilman and State Senator, I clearly served a diverse community of interest. In 1986, when I was elected and entered the New Jersey State Senate, it was the first time in the history of this state that two African-Americans ever sat in the Senate House and Chambers at the same time to represent communities of interest with a large middle class, low-wage earners, and destitute population. Imagine that, in the history of this state, it was not until 1986 that two black Senators out of 40 -- and that was Senator Lipman, for those who don't remember -- sat in the Senate -- ever sat in the Senate at the same time. And so it represented -- it showed what our history of struggle has been here in the state, and it also showed history of violations in this state up until that point in time.

Today, the 2001 (*sic*) redistricting -- in the year 2001, there were only four African-American Senators out of a 40-member Legislature. There were five; there were six at one time. There are only 11 African-American legislators in the New Jersey General Assembly. Now, to me and

many taxpayers and voters in this state, this is disgraceful and continues to reflect the political bias of the Democratic and Republican party. It is also a reflection of the bias of the Democratic and Republican political parties' State and county chairpersons -- some corrupt political bosses, and you have that on the record, are lurking behind the scenes, and the politics of wealthy political candidates and power brokers.

And so I'd like to be honest on this record for the court. In 2001, in the 28th Legislative District, for example -- at that time it was Newark's West Ward, Irvington, Maplewood, South Orange, and some other parts of Newark -- the lines were drawn to change the district boundaries politically, primarily because bosses didn't like Ron Rice, the Senator. And I'm sure the Essex County residents here who know me would tell you that. Thus, a community of interest that had the opportunity to elect a candidate of their choice for years -- an African-American Senator -- was all of a sudden denied that opportunity because power brokers and party bosses didn't like the community of interest, which is clearly a violation of drawing lines. You don't draw lines for that reason -- because of who likes who in this process in any party.

The district lines were drawn to eliminate me as the incumbent Senator and candidate of choice by removing a substantial number of residents that made up the community of interest for whom I speak today and where I still live. I had represented this community of interest, who happen to be my neighbors, in one capacity or another for years. The district wasn't supposed to be drawn to pit one minority -- and we can't be doing this in this redrawing -- against another minority: an African-American Senator against a Latino Assemblyman.

The Assembly candidate was even moved from one town -- South Orange -- into the old 28th Legislative District, to a section of Newark where the political bosses wanted the new lines to be drawn. They just happened to go in front and change that a little bit. In drawing the new line in the 28th Legislative District, a population of approximately 20,000 residents in Newark who are, to this day, my neighbors, were denied an opportunity they had enjoyed since 1982: electing an African-American Senator and a candidate of choice. I was only the second African-American male to ever serve in the State Senate. The first served in 1966 under a different form of government.

The 2001 State redistricting committee violated the 1965 Voting Rights Act, as well as the basic principles and rules in drawing legislative boundaries. One of the rules violated was that of *contiguity*. Contiguity is the principle, as you should know as members, that simply creates a district where you can travel from one point in the district to any other point in the district without crossing the district boundaries. It is where all parts of the district connect, basically. Contiguity is one of the most common rules -- if you don't know, I'm telling you -- for drawing district lines.

Another traditional redistricting principle that was violated was known as *compactness*. Compactness, for the record, is the common rule for drawing a district that directly addresses the district's geometric shape. A district is generally considered compact if it has a fairly regular shape with constituency all living relatively near each other. Presently, in my district -- and this is why I'm bringing this up. I live on the last street in Newark's West Ward, in the Vailsburg section, which touches the Township of

Irvington, which is also my district -- part of my district. However, in the City of Newark, my neighbors, my community of interest who live there -- who live three blocks -- three blocks -- from my house can no longer vote for me as their candidate of choice. For over 16 years, they had that choice, and in 2001 that choice was taken away from them.

So, in closing, I want to leave this for the record: I want the committee to know and understand this. My story is an example of what the committee cannot allow to happen to any member of the Legislature, particularly the few members of color, for the reason I just cited. Our Civil Rights organizations, members of the New Jersey Legislative Black Caucus -- which I'm Chair -- and members of our community -- we will not allow this to happen to any of our incumbent members without a court challenge to the new map under the 1965 Voting Rights Act the Constitution and case laws govern.

As an incumbent Senator and victim of the redistricting process, as well as Chairman of the New Jersey Legislative Black Caucus, working with our Civil Rights organizations, the United States Justice Department -- and I've been in contact with them, they're monitoring things we send to them -- I send to them -- and statewide clergy members, and members of our community in general, I want the record to reflect that the hue and cry of the black community is that the drawing of the new legislative boundaries does not violate, number one, the 1965 Voting Rights Act, Section 2, which among other things prohibits laws and/or practices that deny minority voters an equal opportunity to participate in the political process and to elect representatives of their choice; cannot violate the basic principles and rules of redistricting, such as community of interest,

contiguous, and compactness. I want the record to also reflect, on behalf of our taxpayers, voters, and residents in general, we expect the new map to be fair and just. People of color should not be disenfranchised under the new map. We want it to reflect and meet the goal of protecting the interest of minority voters. Minority incumbents and candidates should not be pitted one against the other.

Looking at and analyzing the Census data, most of the legislative districts do not need to change. Now, I have the same data you have, because of my relationships at the Federal level, that we're analyzing. The districts that incumbent minorities represent presently do not need to change in most cases at all, nor do the districts of nonminority incumbents and candidates. Where change, based on the diminution of the population or increases in population, exists, the necessary change needed to be made to meet that 220,000 center mark population, with a 5 percent deviation up or down, okay -- and I'm going to end this -- it is clear that they only have to be changed very minimally. And for the record, it happens to be districts 2, 3, 9, 12, 14, 17, and 30 where the population has increased; and districts 10, 11, 15, 27, 29, 32, and 34 where the population has decreased.

Finally, I want the record to reflect that I'm requesting to this redistricting committee, via this public hearing, for the record -- whether it happens or not -- that you consider, in good faith, to reach out for a member of the Justice Department to sit at these public meetings and private meetings to monitor conversation.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I'd just like to thank you for the opportunity. And I want to emphasize that we're looking at maps. I'm looking to draw maps, I'm working on drawing maps that minority districts

and nonminority districts -- the majority do not have to change. So I disagree with a significant change, Mr. Co-Chair. That may be your position, but we do numbers too and we're going to remind you.

Thank you very much. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Senator.

And we have a copy of your written remarks, and they'll be part of the record as well.

Thank you, Senator.

I'd like to next call, from the New Jersey Redistricting Coalition, Jerry Harris.

**J E R R Y H A R R I S:** Mr. Chairman, members of the Commission, again, I thank you for the opportunity to--

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Can't hear you; speak up, please.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Just bring it real close to your mouth. (referring to PA microphone)

MR. HARRIS: Okay. I want to thank you again for the opportunity to comment on the process. You have, on the record, testimony prepared by the New Jersey Redistricting Coalition. As you know, when we appeared before you in Ocean County and in Camden, we indicated that the Coalition consisted of groups of Latino and African-American caucus members. We have since grown to include representatives of the Asian community.

We are encouraged by you posting the -- setting up your website, which provides information. But I again request that you include

on that website the ability for individuals to have mapping capacity to compare, and I have not seen your response to that.

There are a number of issues that have arisen repeatedly, and one is whether or not the question of the voting dilution possibility could appear by virtue of what you have -- what the Census data suggests. I want to reaffirm what we said earlier. We believe that voting rights -- the Voting Rights Act standards can be met. Districts can be drawn to increase the opportunity for the African-American, Latino, and Asian community, which represents almost 40 percent of the state population, to have a higher number -- higher proportion of the Legislature reflect the state's diversity. And also, to remind you -- something that you probably don't have to be reminded of -- that the individuals in the Legislature, when they are elected, are elected to represent all of the individuals in that district, not just the individuals who vote for them. And with the increased diversity of the state, it becomes incumbent upon this body to draw a map that creates not only a fair map for what appears to be the numbers in 2011, but what will emerge as the communities of color continue to grow.

I'd also like to have the opportunity to have Tom Jackson, the Co-Chair, speak.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Just bring the microphone real close to your mouth.

**T O M J A C K S O N:** Thank you.

I will make this brief. I do want to echo the fact that we want to make sure that, whatever map emerges, it does maximize the opportunity for minority districts to be able to elect representatives of their choice.

I want to be real clear here. It is clear from today's statistics that minority communities of color represent more than 40 percent of the voting electorate here in New Jersey. And as a result of that, we want to see that translate into a larger percentage and, at least, 40 percent of the representatives in the New Jersey Legislature. We think that is fair and equitable. We think that's fully defensible under the Voting Rights Act, and we'll be looking very carefully at it.

We are a Coalition of diversity, we are a Coalition that is paying very close attention to what this Commission is doing. And we want to make sure that we emerge with a voting electorate that can have its voice heard.

Thank you.

MR. HARRIS: And one final point: When the 11th member is appointed, should that be necessary because you reach impasse, we are requesting that the body hold public meetings during that phase. In prior processes, what has happened is, the Commission has had public meetings; once the 11th member has been appointed, there has not been public opportunity to comment. And we urge you to make that part of your deliberations moving forward.

MR. JACKSON: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you. Thank you for your testimony. (applause)

Assemblyman Al Coutinho.

**A S S E M B L Y M A N A L B E R T C O U T I N H O:** Good evening, Chairman Webber, Chairman Wisniewski, Commissioners.

Let me begin by thanking all of you for agreeing to serve on this very important Commission. The work that you're going to be doing will affect our state for the next decade, and it is of critical importance.

I will be brief this evening, but there are basically three points that I'd like to make that I believe are of fundamental importance. First of all, I'd like to call your attention -- you are in the 29th District by the way, so welcome here to my district. And we are about three blocks away from Rutgers-Newark University, which is the most ethnically diverse university in the United States of America.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Speak up, we can't hear.

ASSEMBLYMAN COUTINHO: I think that that is a great example of, you know-- The greatest strength that New Jersey has is its diversity. And so without question, the number one responsibility that this Commission will have will be to make sure that the New Jersey State Legislature is reflective of that.

Now, while the map that was done 10 years ago has done a good job -- and we've heard already from Speaker Oliver, Senator Ruiz, and others about some of the successes in getting minorities into positions of leadership -- the truth be told -- and you've already heard testimony -- that there is much more that needs to go. We are almost half of the way there only.

Now, while I'm aware that there are mandates that limit what can be done, I think it is imperative that this Commission, at the very least, does nothing to affect the minority representation and does everything it

can to make sure that we could increase minority representation throughout the State of New Jersey.

I'm very proud to be the first Portuguese-American in the history of the New Jersey State Legislature. And if I can, when we talk about communities of interest and how critically important that is, my home community -- which is the East Ward of the City of Newark, approximately 60,000 residents -- did not have a State legislator for 50 years. During those 50 years, that community had two prisons, two methadone clinics, a garbage incinerator built into it, and became the community with the lowest amount of green space per capita in the United States. Okay? This is what happens when communities of interest are not represented.

And I ask that you please look carefully at these issues throughout every corner of the state to make sure that people have a voice. It's not just the ethnic groups, it's-- There are very specific communities of interest we need to make sure have access to this critically important process.

The second point, which not as many people talk about -- which I know goes into a lot of your deliberations -- is the history of voter turnout. And I will tell you that, again, given the way that some poor communities function, people do feel a sense of hopelessness in their realities so that, necessarily, turnout in non-crucial elections, as they would put it -- I would argue, of course, every election is crucial -- is not what it should be. I would ask that you look at the number of people in a district and really pay much less attention to the issue of voter turnout. To the extent that we want to see the true sentiment of the state, I think that the

statewide elections -- be it for President, or United States Senator, or Governor -- are much more reflective than necessarily turnout numbers in other elections.

And lastly, because I do want to be brief -- I know everybody here has a long evening ahead of them -- I would ask that you move to engage the 11th member as quickly as possible. I think that we all understand how this process works -- the tremendous interest involved. And to the extent that this individual will be a critical piece of defining that final map, I think that it's important we officially bring him on board and let him have access to these public meetings, to participate in every single way he can, so that the final product is as fair and as thought-out as possible for the entire State of New Jersey.

I thank you very much for giving me the opportunity to speak. And hopefully, if you don't get out of here too late-- You know, we do have some of the best restaurants in the entire state here in the Ironbound. (laughter) So make sure you get a chance to get down there.

Thank you very much and good luck with your very important work. (applause)

Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Assemblyman, I don't care about the restaurants. How are the bakeries? (laughter)

ASSEMBLYMAN COUTINHO: The bakeries are also the best in the state.

Thank you very much, everyone.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Assemblyman.

Just a housekeeping note: We have 40 individuals still signed up to testify. And so, again, I just want to repeat we're trying to keep everybody to five minutes. If somebody makes your point, come on up and tell us that they've made your point. But try to summarize to the degree possible, especially if you have written testimony that will become part of the record of this Commission. And so if you have written testimony, please come up and summarize it as opposed to reading it word for word.

I'd next like to call Marcia Marley and her associates with BlueWave New Jersey. (applause)

**MARCIA MARLEY:** I'm not going to keep you for very long.

Chairmen, and all of you working--

**UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE:** Can't hear you.

**ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI:** You have to bring that microphone up to your mouth very close.

**MS. MARLEY:** How is that?

**ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI:** Perfect.

**MS. MARLEY:** I don't want to spend time reiterating what other people have said here, but very quickly I want to thank the entire committee here -- and Commission for opening up to the public and asking the public for input. And I hope that you will continue the process. All right? We really need more public hearings. This is such an important, important process that we ask you to have as many public hearings as possible.

And the other thing I just wanted to reiterate--

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Can't hear you. Speak up.

MS. MARLEY: I wanted to reiterate the remarks of my very able representative, Sheila Oliver, Speaker Oliver. (applause) We need districts and representatives that reflect the growing diversity in our state. We have to have a fair and transparent process where every -- every citizen has access to his or her representative and that they reflect -- reflect our minority -- our growing minority population. We ask that you be forward-looking, not backward-looking, as has been stated.

Ann, would you like to repeat anything?

A N N R E A: I'd just like to add that it would be wonderful if this Commission could have a map proposal and let the public see that and comment on a proposed map. (applause)

My name is Ann Rea. I live in Montclair.

MS. MARLEY: And we would like to state -- reiterate again that any district should be based on population and not the voting record.

Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Marcia.

Questions? (no response)

Thank you.

MS. REA: Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Okay. I'd next like to call Councilman Anibal Ramos. Following him: William Colón, the Latino Institute.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Can't hear you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: I'm going to call Anibal Ramos, City Council; and then after him, William Colón, the Latino Institute.

**COUNCILMAN ANIBAL RAMOS JR.:** Good evening.

I'd like to welcome members of the Commission; and officially welcome you to the great City of Newark. I commend each and every one of you for taking on this enormous responsibility, with such high expectations, in a relatively short amount of time to prepare a recommendation.

About 10 years ago, I had the pleasure of participating, along with a number of community leaders around the state, with the guidance of the United States Hispanic Leadership Institute, in this process. We were fortunate to testify to both the State and county commissions looking at redistricting issues, and learned a great deal about its value.

The results of the last redistricting process are undeniable in terms of increasing the representation of minorities in key State legislative positions. Over the last 10 years, we have seen the emergence of our first Hispanic Speaker of the Assembly; our very own Sheila Oliver, the first African-American woman Speaker of the Assembly; and our first Latina Senator representing District 29.

Certainly, the last Census results show that New Jersey is becoming increasingly diverse, and that diversity has expanded in every county and every town across the state. The myth that minority communities are living primarily in cities like ours was dismantled with the last Census results. As Professor and former Assemblyman Caraballo described in today's *Star-Ledger*, one group in particular, Hispanics, now

constitutes more than 10 percent of the population in 25 out of 40 legislative districts, demonstrating that they, along with other minorities, are now part of New Jersey's urban, suburban, and rural communities.

Consistent with other speakers and formal observations that I've read over the past few weeks, there is great value in expanding the number of diverse districts. The alternative will result in segregating a state that has found a tremendous amount of strength and resolve in its diversity, a state that has seen the emergence of men and women of color in locally elected offices in every region, a state that has more men and women of color leading committees in both the Senate and Assembly, a state that supported the nation's first African-American President, a state that elected a Hispanic-American to the United States Senate. By increasing the number of districts that reflect and represent the diversity of the state, political parties, regardless of affiliation, will have a unique opportunity to better identify, cultivate, and support candidates that are representative of our state.

I thank you for hearing my testimony.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Councilman, thank you for your testimony. (applause)

Mr. Colón.

**WILLIAM COLÓN:** Buenos noches, good evening.

My name is William Colón. I'm the President and CEO of the Latino Institute. And I'm going to be very brief since Councilman Ramos already basically covered what I was going to say.

One of the things that I want to be perfectly clear about is that Latinos are now comprising -- as he already said -- about 18 percent of the

population, and that's over 1.5 million people in New Jersey. Also, it shows -- as Wilfredo Caraballo noted and Anibal Ramos mentioned -- that Latinos are in every single county in New Jersey. Actually, I looked at the figures and looked at all the towns in New Jersey -- 600-plus of them -- and only three towns in New Jersey don't have any Latinos. We are everywhere. (laughter)

I want you to remember, though, that the Census is only a figure: It's a shot right there on time -- it's an instant photo taken at a particular time; and that the figures today are not static, they're dynamic. So there would be more Latinos -- there are more Latinos today than in 2010 when this figure was taken. And I can assure you there will be more Latinos tomorrow than there are today. And that is because we have a bigger birth rate. Also, we have a migration of legal people who come to the United States. And I mentioned the Federal figures of a million green cards are given every year. And do you know what? 600,000 of those are for people coming from Latin America. So what is going to happen is that this population -- our population is going to continue to grow. The people who are here who came undocumented are working very hard to comply with all the laws that they need to comply with so that they also become legal in this country. And they will go through the process of not only becoming legal, but also becoming voters -- citizens and voters in this state.

So I urge you to -- Anibal Ramos already said -- to make sure that we have fair representation, that it's done the correct way.

I don't believe in packing. We already talked about that very clearly. We have worked-- This state has shown diversity everywhere. Since we are everywhere, we have a right to be everywhere and be

represented. The opportunity is here for Latinos and other minorities to be represented in every single county. There is no reason for us to be segregated to only the urban areas where we have large majorities. I think it's important for us to be everywhere and to be recognized everywhere.

So you have, as I said, a reality today. The reality is that 40 percent of this population in New Jersey is composed of people of color. Recognize that reality -- what is today and what will be tomorrow. Be fair, be just. Provide for a Legislature with true representation of our population, one that will respond to our voices.

Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

Next up will be Rahaman Muhammad, SEIU; followed by Councilman Darrin Sharif.

Hold that microphone very close. (laughter)

**R A H A M A N M U H A M M A D:** Good evening, Commissioners, Chairmen, Speaker Oliver, Majority Leader Cryan.

My name is Rahaman Muhammad. I'm the President of Service Employees International Union, which represents some 40,000 members across the state in both the private and public sectors. I am also the President of a Newark-based Local which represents 3,000 members.

I thank you for holding this hearing and for the opportunity to speak on an issue that will have an impact on New Jersey residents for years to come.

The latest Census figures are clear. The faces of New Jersey are changing and will continue to do so. I am here to represent the thousands

of working men and women whose lives, families, and livelihoods will be impacted by what is happening here today.

As an officer for SEIU, I am here to send a clear message that we will only accept a decision that ensures fair representation for all New Jerseyans, no matter the color of their skin, no matter their ethnicity, and no matter where they live. We will only accept a decision that ensures that the new legislative map allows what our Constitution calls for, and that is that all have an equal stake in our democracy.

The new Census figures clearly show that our Latino sisters and brothers are a force to be reckoned with throughout the entire state. The Census also shows that the number of our black sisters and brothers, as well as our Asian sisters and brothers, continue to rise. So clearly, the logical result should be this: that they will have more of a say in what is happening throughout the entire State of New Jersey. This would result in an increase in elected leaders who come from the same diverse background, because there is a larger pool to pick from. But it will also mean that they will have a say in picking the best person who will represent them, no matter the background of the candidate.

To me, that sounds like democracy at work. And yet, there are clear and troubling indications that some believe the best way to tackle the issues surrounding the growing diversity of our state is to pack them into districts -- like cattle being herded by cowboys -- so that they can elect someone who looks and appeals to them. Then the other districts, which will have few or perhaps no faces of color, would be able to go to town and choose their own candidates. To me, this is not democracy at work.

I am not a psychologist, so I can't tell you whether it is fear that is driving this unacceptable option. I don't like to think that someone is afraid of my Latino or black sisters and brothers. But as Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. said, a right delayed is a right denied. And all voters, Latino, African-American, Asian, and white have the right to go to the polls on Election Day and vote for the people who will best represent them. No one needs or wants a group of people telling us how we should be voting.

We all use the word *minority* when speaking about African-Americans and Latinos. While that word describes us in terms of numbers, I want to be very clear that this is not to mean that we are insignificant. It does not mean we are secondary to anyone, and it does not mean we will accept being told to sit in the back of the bus when it comes to New Jersey politics.

Perhaps a long-term solution would be to eliminate the word *minority* from these types of discussions, or to come up with a term that reflects that we are men, women, and children who have the same rights as those in the majority. But for now, on behalf of SEIU New Jersey State Council, I am urging this Commission to do the right thing and work towards a legislative map that provides fair representation for everyone.

Thanks for the opportunity. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

Councilman.

**COUNCILMAN DARRIN S. SHARIF:** Good evening.

Thank you for allowing me to provide testimony at this very important proceeding. I represent the Central Ward of Newark. Many of

my constituents are being crushed by the burdens of daily life. They feel a sense of hopelessness and despair. They feel that the system is rigged against them, and not designed to work for them and to advance their interest. So in a very real way, this process is on trial.

The hopes of many Central Ward residents and Newark residents hang in the balance. How you conduct this important exercise, and whether or not you redraw a map that reflects the rich diversity of this great state, will either give hope to those who have all but given up hope or plunge them into deeper despair.

One school of thought is that, with redrawing the legislative map, it should reflect areas of higher voter turnout. I could not disagree with this more. This violates the principle of one person, one vote. Just because a person could not or did not vote in a particular election, it in no way means that their voices should be silenced for a decade. So therefore, I am advocating for the fundamental proposition that the Legislature represent the rich diversity of this great state.

Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Councilman.

Next, I'd like to call Christian Estevez, Latino Action Network; followed by Councilman Luis Quintana.

**CHRISTIAN ESTEVEZ:** Good evening, distinguished members of the New Jersey Apportionment Commission.

I am Christian Estevez, Vice President of the Latino Action Network. The LAN thanks you for this opportunity to speak on this very important issue.

The Latino Action Network is a broad, statewide coalition of Latino organizations dedicated to political empowerment; the promotion of civil rights; and the elimination of disparities in the areas of education, health, and employment. To that end, we want to ensure that the Latino community is fairly represented in whatever legislative map is developed.

Just like everyone else in this room, we were anxiously awaiting the release of the 2010 Census numbers. The 2010 Census came out last week and showed much larger numbers than expected for the Latino community. Latino growth throughout the state exceeds statewide population growth. It also made up for part of the decline in the non-Latino, white population.

I just want to share with you some of those numbers that we saw when we looked through the actual Census. And we saw that in 2000, the total New Jersey population was 8,414,350; and in 2010, it was 8,791,894, with a difference of 377,544. The Latino community in 2000 was 1,117,191; and in 2010 it was 1,555,144, and grew during that 10 years by 437,953. Basically, the overall population of New Jersey grew 377,000, and the Latino community grew by 437,000. So basically made up for -- we were more than just the growth in the community. We made up for whatever loss had happened.

Critical to understanding this growth is to basically shed light on the misunderstanding that a lot of people have about -- and the outdated assumptions that people have about the Latino community only being in certain places. Other speakers have talked tonight about us Latinos growing in different parts of the state. We know that Latinos grew in traditional centers like Hudson and Passaic counties, but here are some places you

might have not thought of: The Latino community grew in Middlesex County by over 47,000 people. Latinos grew in Union County by over 40,000; in Bergen County, by over 53,000; and I can go on and on. And basically, we had growth in every single county.

And when you look at not just the counties, but you look at the towns, we definitely had growth in places that you would expect, but also in some of the places you might not have thought of. Freehold Borough: In 2000, Latinos represented 28 percent of the population; in 2010, Latinos represent 43 percent of the population. In Dover: Latinos, in 2000, were 58 percent of the population; in the last Census, we're 69 percent. In Pleasantville: Latinos were 22 percent, and in 2010 Latinos were 41 percent. Plainfield, Union County: Latinos, in 2000, were 25 percent; and in 2010, 40 percent. I can go on and on. Other places where you don't think of Latinos traditionally-- We see large numbers of Latinos currently residing in Toms River -- 7,200 Latinos reside in Toms River; in Parsippany, there are 4,400 Latinos; in Galloway, there are 3,700 Latinos. And, again, I can go on and on -- Lakewood, New Jersey, 16,000 Latinos.

And we want you to just keep in mind some of these numbers as you're looking at these maps. Because as everybody is going to be focusing on maybe the urban centers in the North, we want you to be paying attention to the other emerging communities.

Basically, what I'm getting down to is that the map needs to reflect all Latinos in Jersey City and Passaic, but also in Freehold and Dover, in Perth Amboy, Union City, and also Lakewood and Vineland. The map needs to be forward-looking, considering the population -- considering what the population will be like not just in this fall's election,

but in 2015, 2017, and 2019. If current population trends continue, by the end of the decade Latinos in Monmouth County, Morris County, and Atlantic County should all have an opportunity to elect a Latino representative.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Christian.

MR. ESTEVEZ: Districts need to be drawn with that opportunity in mind and should not crack growing populations. And as other people say, we should not pack populations either. You know, we see true representation -- we seek true representation, and we recognize that the gimmick of packing only offers the illusion of empowerment while robbing us of that true representation.

We look forward to participating in this process, and ask for the opportunity to present our views at further public hearings once the neutral member of the Commission has been appointed. We want to make sure that we will be able to interact with the full Commission and have the ability to comment on proposed maps. And we look forward to a decade where Latino communities, in West New York and Paterson, but also in Red Bank and Parsippany, will be able to choose our candidates of choice.

Thank you very much.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Christian.

Just one second, Christian. I think there is a question.

MR. ESTEVEZ: Sure.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Senator Sarlo.

SENATOR SARLO: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Christian, just -- you echoed a lot of what Mr. Colón had just said previously. And the question I have is-- You talked a lot about -- at

the end of your testimony about the Hispanic population being spread throughout the state in every county, every municipality, and that it creates an illusion when you do pack.

The question I have to you is: When you do have an urban area, perhaps surrounded by suburbs where you have a large population -- Hispanic population in the urban area and in the surrounding communities -- there's an influence of Hispanic population-- If a non-Hispanic legislator gets elected in those areas, in your mind, doesn't it require and force those legislators to well-represent the Hispanic needs and the cultures in those various cities? Because that's their district. In order for them to be successful and well-represent the needs of their constituents-- Just because they are from a different nationality or different ethnic background-- It forces them to represent that community, just like they're representing the community where they particularly live in.

MR. ESTEVEZ: Definitely. I think there are some places where-- No matter how you put communities of interest together, and Latinos together, you may not reach a certain number. But in some places, we're close to it. And I think that -- especially the way that New Jersey is -- we understand that New Jersey is unique in the sense that we run in slates, basically with one Senator and two Assembly people, which is different than other states where they run single-member districts. In these cases, we want to make sure that -- where we approach the numbers -- to have one of those members of that slate be Latino; that it happens -- or, for that matter, any group that reaches those numbers should have the representation -- and that the other members of the delegation from that district also have to be cognizant of the needs of the community. So it's not the feeling that every

single person and that every member of the district has to be Latino. But we want to make sure that we maximize the representation wherever we can while, at the same time, making sure that we can influence the other members of the delegation.

SENATOR SARLO: Thank you. Thank you for your testimony, too. It was very helpful.

MR. ESTEVEZ: Thank you very much.

MR. PALATUCCI: Chairman, can I--

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Mr. Palatucci.

MR. PALATUCCI: The Senator started asking some questions. I figured I'd ask one or two if I could.

You ticked off a lot of -- a number of towns. I think your numbers were absolutely accurate. Do you mind if I ask you-- I don't know where you live.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Can't hear you. Speak up.

MR. PALATUCCI: If I could ask you-- I'm going to pick out a couple of those towns that you mentioned. Perth Amboy, for example-- Do you know who represents Perth Amboy in the State Senate?

MR. ESTEVEZ: Do I know who represents Perth Amboy in the State Senate?

MR. PALATUCCI: Right.

MR. ESTEVEZ: Perth Amboy--

MR. PALATUCCI: No problem. It's okay.

MR. ESTEVEZ: I'm sorry, I've been looking at so many names and numbers all day.

MR. PALATUCCI: How about Pleasantville? Do you know who represents Pleasantville in the State Senate?

MR. ESTEVEZ: I'd have to look in my notes and (indiscernible) to that.

MR. PALATUCCI: No problem. Do you know who represents the City of Passaic in the State Senate?

MR. ESTEVEZ: What's the point? I'm not exactly sure what you want.

MR. PALATUCCI: I just wanted to--

MR. ESTEVEZ: I'm not-- Sir, I'm going to be very honest. I've been looking at so many numbers and names all day that I don't want to make the mistake of just throwing out a name. I do know various members, but I'm not going to just throw it off the top of my head.

MR. PALATUCCI: No problem. Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Did you want to give him the answers?

MR. ESTEVEZ: Do you want to give me the answers, please? Thanks. I'll write them down.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Speaker Oliver.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Yes, thank you.

I found your testimony of great interest. And a lot of the data we have been pouring over, without question, reflects phenomenal numbers. Even here in the County of Essex, you can look at communities that--

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Can't hear you.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: You can look at communities that have historically been represented by other groups. So, without question, you are right on target in examining those numbers.

Something that I would like to ask you about, if you are-- And by the way, I have to tell Commissioner Palatucci that we poll all the time, and I'd venture to say 75 percent of the citizens in this state don't know who their elected representatives are. So do not feel put out by that.

MR. ESTEVEZ: Thank you. And I can speak to who my representatives are. I live in Plainfield, and my Senator is Nick Scutari. My Assembly people are Jerry Green and Linda Stender.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Yes. But we're anonymous in the Legislature.

MR. ESTEVEZ: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: People don't know us.

But what I want to talk to you about is this concept of voter participation. And we heard a prior speaker talk about: Do not base the drawing of a map based on historical voter participation rates.

One of the things I would like to ask you is: Based on your experience with coalitions of Hispanic and Latino organizations, are there -- or is the issue of maximization of voter participation impeded in communities across the state because the Hispanic population feels that they have nothing to draw them to the polls? I'd like you to maybe respond to that.

MR. ESTEVEZ: I think, definitely. I think that's definitely an issue. As a grassroots organizer, I've been-- I've knocked on many doors, and I can tell you that not just Latino voters, but a lot of voters of different

groups -- when they feel that maybe they're not being listened to or they're not being represented, and their voice is not being represented, they feel less inclined to go out on Election Day. And the argument as to why -- and to convince them that they really need to go out, which I believe is absolutely true -- that everybody needs to vote, is harder to make.

When someone knows that the person who is on the ballot truly represents their views, understands their -- where they're coming from -- it helps get them out. It doesn't always have to be someone from their own ethnicity or race, but that definitely helps as well. At the same time, there's always a case where -- in some cases where someone from their own race might not necessarily represent their interests. And that's been a mistake that some parties have made in saying, "Well, if we just did all Latino or African-American" -- even if that person's views are backwards -- "that's automatically going to get the views out." The person also has -- the candidate also has to have the positions and the background that represents what the voters' needs are. So, yes, it helps when the voters can identify, in one way or another, with the candidates on the ballot.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Thank you.

MR. ESTEVEZ: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Christian, I think there's one more question.

MR. ESTEVEZ: Yes.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: The Latino Action Network is the group you represent, correct?

MR. ESTEVEZ: Yes, it is.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Does it-- Is it a concern for the Latino Action Network that the City of Passaic -- 71 percent Hispanic population -- doesn't have either a Senator or an Assembly person of Hispanic descent representing them in Trenton?

MR. ESTEVEZ: Well, my understanding is that the City of Passaic is part of a district that has an Assemblywoman who is Latina.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: No, the Senator is Senator Sarlo, Assemblyman Gary Schaer.

MR. ESTEVEZ: Oh, Passaic, I'm sorry. I'm thinking about Paterson. I'm sorry.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: No, no, no.

MR. ESTEVEZ: I'm sorry, I got confused with Paterson.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: No, the City of Passaic.

Is it a concern for LAN?

MR. ESTEVEZ: I think that what we want to see-- It's definitely a concern in terms of -- we want to see that if their population in that district reaches a-- You know, we want to see the opportunity for Latinos to run there. And we understand that there is a slate, there is -- that there is a way that that could happen. If there is a way that that could happen -- that we can have a Latino representative there -- we'd like to see every effort be made for that to happen. But at the same time, we're not going to take the position that every member of that legislative delegation has to be Latino. So, yes, our concern is, when we have a high Latino population district that doesn't have any representation in the Legislature, we'd like to see that fixed. Also, we realize that there is a lot of work that

has to be done in order to develop candidates, and to get elected, and all that.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you.

Nilsa.

MS. CRUZ-PEREZ: Yes. Do you think packing is going to help increase the numbers of minorities throughout the state?

MR. ESTEVEZ: My biggest concern about the issue of packing is that while -- like I said in my testimony -- that while it may provide the illusion of more power because maybe in one or two places we have what people would consider the guarantee-- They say that if you have over a certain percentage of one group, it's guaranteed that that group is going to have -- is going to vote for a Latino or whatever. The concern is that, while that illusion might exist, by packing you would be taking folks from other towns who could make up a part of another district that could lead to either having a Latino representative elected there or, at the very least, Latino influence in that other district. So we are for creating legislative districts of opportunity. Right? So we want opportunity districts.

MS. CRUZ-PEREZ: And I can testify to that. Because if it wasn't because -- if South Jersey would have had to have districts that are packing, we never would have a legislator. Back in 1995, when I became the first Hispanic Assemblywoman ever elected in the 5th District, it was only 14 percent Latino. And we have an African-American serving since 1989. And that never would have happened either, because it was only 18 percent African-American. So I think that's not the answer.

Thank you.

MR. ESTEVEZ: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Senator Sarlo.

SENATOR SARLO: Yes, I just want to respond. And Christian has said a lot here. And I know our Co-Chair is very interested about the City of--

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Can't hear you.

SENATOR SARLO: Our Co-Chair is very interested about the City of Passaic, and I look forward to him supporting some of the legislation I put forward to help the people of the City of Passaic going forward, because of his concerns. But I will say this: Since I've been in the Legislature, the City of Passaic is a large portion of my district. And they've always -- we've always given -- Passaic County has always had the opportunity to put forward their best candidate to represent the district, which is a diverse district, and it represents three counties.

And over the years they've put forward various candidates. For the last eight years it has been Assemblyman Gary Schaer, who runs at large, also, as a City Councilman, and has been elected at large in that community with great support from the Latino community because he represents his community at large.

Gary and others also got well behind the first Dominican Mayor -- the first Dominican mayor in the entire country. That happened out of the City of Passaic. And that was with the support of an Assemblyman from their hometown district. So Assemblyman Schaer, the Senator who is myself, and others all work together to make sure the Hispanic community is very well represented in the Legislature.

And I will say this: The first vote that I've ever taken in the Legislature is a vote that I will always be proud of -- and it's the first vote I've ever taken. And the first vote I ever cast in the Legislature was to cast a vote for Albio Sires to be the first Hispanic Speaker of this state. And that's the first vote I've taken, and it's a vote I will always remember. And it went over very well in the community of the City of Passaic. So I'm very proud of that vote, and I will never forget it.

MR. ESTEVEZ: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Any other questions? (no response)

MR. ESTEVEZ: Thank you very much.

MS. CRUZ-PEREZ: Thank you, Christian.

MR. ESTEVEZ: Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Councilman Quintana.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Not here.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: He left.

James Harris, New Jersey State NAACP; and after him, Mayor Hawkins.

This time you're together? (laughter)

**J A M E S E. H A R R I S:** Good evening, Commissioners.

My name is James Harris, President of the New Jersey State--

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Can't hear you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Real close and loud.

MR. HARRIS: Good evening.

My name is James Harris, President of the New Jersey State Conference of the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, the oldest and largest civil rights organization, celebrating our 102nd year of existence. (applause)

The purpose of the NAACP is to eliminate racial hatred and racial discrimination, and to improve the socioeconomic -- political and economic development of all people. And this evening we are extremely happy to produce testimony. Because as you know, the NAACP has great interest all over this country and has set up legal representation to make sure that the civil rights of all people in this country, and most certainly in the State of New Jersey, are protected.

George Gore, our Political Action Chairperson, will be giving testimony on behalf of the New Jersey State Conference.

**GEORGE B. GORE:** Thank you.

Thank you, Commissioners.

You took five minutes from me from the last time.

**ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI:** We gave you two shots.

**MR. GORE:** I came prepared for 10. You told me this time it's 5, but no problem. (laughter)

Commissioners, we're embarking on what is probably one of the most significant things for the next 10 years, understanding that the way these votes will be aligned and the way these districts will be aligned will affect not only how people live, but will affect the economics of the State of New Jersey.

Growth is part of the electoral process. Growth of businesses, by development of community of interest, is a part of the electoral process.

If we don't look very carefully how we draw these lines, we can stagnate growth and we can stagnate economics.

One of the things that we need to look at is, for the last -- things is that we are one of 11 states which, for the last two times, had to go to court. I think if we do our homework right this time, we won't have to go to court. I think there is enough information. I think there is enough resolve sitting around this table that you're going to be able to come up with a solution that fits New Jersey and allows us to grow for at least the next 10 years. We cannot find ourselves bickering between what communities look like based on geographical, false-drawn lines, gerrymandered just so somebody else can stay in office. This has got to be about what is good for the economics of New Jersey, what is good for the people who live here in New Jersey, and what is good for the rest of the country. Because New Jersey is part of the United States.

And I want to say one thing in closing: Jails being included in districts is a false thing. No state surrounding you does that. Take a look at those numbers. Jails are not included. (applause) We talked about it last time. The people in jail cannot vote. They cannot vote where they're (indiscernible). The only way they can vote is if they come back home and ask permission to get their voting rights back. We should not be including those numbers in somebody's district, because those are the votes that can never be counted under the one man, one vote process. The NAACP, nationwide, is opposed to jails being included in districts. That is a national policy.

The last thing I want to point out to you: We have 435 legislators coming up for this next reelection. New Jersey is going to lose

one. What is interesting about the Constitution is that this number was picked in 1912 with the idea that we would grow as the population grew. The 435 was based on 100 million. We're now a nation of 300 million. Somebody needs to ask the question: Why don't we have more representatives so New Jersey doesn't have to lose a Congressman? (applause)

MR. HARRIS: Just one thing that I would also like to make clear: When we talk about proportional representation, there is history in this country of pitting minorities against minorities. (applause) That is unacceptable. Since the increase is in the minority population, we should see an increase in the representation in the Legislature. So I would caution and hope that we don't get into a situation where we're trying to have folks fighting over a thin slice of the pie when, obviously, the pie needs to be expanded from the majority as we know it now so that all aspects, all representation, is proportionate throughout the State of New Jersey. And, of course, we will be paying close attention to that. And we hope that you will be dedicated to that for the future of New Jersey.

Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Mr. Harris, Mr. Gore. Thank you for your testimony.

Mayor Hawkins; followed by Greg Payton, CWA Local 1081.

**MAYOR ELDRIDGE HAWKINS JR.:** Good evening.

Thank you for having me.

There is no doubt, I think, in this day and age -- especially with the Census and the numbers the way they are -- that there are going to be some changes. I think that we have to move forward and try to do the right

thing, and hopefully that will be the right thing that will help further the interest of the state and the people, and not just political agendas.

That being said, there has been a lot of testimony to proper representation by minority groups, and that's valid, and I support that. And I'm sure that the Commission will do the right thing.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Can't hear you.

MAYOR HAWKINS: But I'd also like to deviate from that just a bit and speak to what this process can mean from a governmental standpoint. As the Mayor of a municipality, in Orange we've been very successful with doing a lot of things, from redevelopment, Transit Villiage designations, State funding, Federal funding. And we don't do that on our own. We do that with legislators on a State level who know our communities. So I would just ask that when this body goes about redrafting these lines that they, quite plainly, don't rape particular towns of legislators who are very much familiar with the nuances of their communities.

I've been blessed to have great representation. I'm partial to Senator Codey -- in the 27th -- and Assemblywoman Mila Jasey, who have been doing great things. And I imagine throughout the state there are other legislators who know very well what their community needs. They know their people, they're very familiar with the programs. So to have to start anew with a different legislative leader in that district would be a travesty for many communities -- to have to start over and refamiliarize a different legislator with all the different things that are going on -- programs, funding

needs, the intricacies of programming, or even redevelopment efforts that we're trying to do to revitalize communities and create jobs.

So I just want to put that out there for consideration and ask that, again, when you redraw these lines that you allow municipalities to keep some of the representation. Again, Orange is a smaller, mid-sized community with 30,000, 32,000 residents. And I don't want for my city to be overlooked by somebody who is not as familiar with it or doesn't have roots in our community.

Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Mayor.

Greg Payton, followed by Mayor Victor DeLuca of Maplewood.

**G R E G O R Y P A Y T O N:** Good evening.

My name is Greg Payton. I represent the non-managerial workers at Essex County Welfare, CWA Local 1081.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Can't hear you.

MR. PAYTON: I'm talking into the mike. (laughter)

Okay. Thank you for this opportunity to talk about the issue of redistricting in New Jersey. The right to legislative representation is fundamental to any healthy democracy because it safeguards all our other rights.

That is why public hearings like this are so important. These public hearings are a good start, but more can be done to shed sunshine on redistricting in New Jersey. The advanced notice given for this hearing was important so that people like myself, with a job and a family in New Jersey, could make the meeting. I hope you will be scheduling the rest of your

meetings tonight. And they should be spread out around the state so that all of our residents have the opportunity to provide testimony like I do.

I want to thank you for making the website that provides details for these hearings, as well as copies of submitted testimony. I also encourage you to use the website to publish maps proposed by both sides so that they can be viewed and commented on by the public. Public comments should be made part of the official record.

If you can't reach agreement here and you need to appoint a tiebreaker, there should be more public hearings with the 11th member. With so much power vested in one person, he or she should be available to listen to the will of the people whose representation is at stake. This will also ensure testimony is heard regarding actual drafts of potential maps. New Jersey residents deserve an open, transparent process and the opportunity to affirm their rights.

The most important of these rights -- and a right that so many of us have fought for throughout our country's history -- is the U.S. constitutional requirement of one person, one vote. Having a huge number of people in one district and small numbers of people in other districts is not permitted, to ensure that all people have the right to representation and an equal stake in our democracy. Instead, I support a map that meets the constitutional standard and that provides fair representation for all New Jersey's communities, and for people of all racial and ethnic backgrounds.

The next several weeks will determine political representation in New Jersey for the next 10 years, and it is -- and it will affect many decisions we have to make as a state, moving forward. With so much at stake, I urge you to protect the rights of all New Jerseyans to participate in

the process and to ensure that they are fully and fairly represented in your ultimate decision.

Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

Mayor DeLuca, to be followed by Susan Gartland of Caldwell.

**MAYOR VICTOR DeLUCA:** Good evening.

Thank you very much for holding this hearing here in Newark, and being an open, transparent process.

I am representing the Township of Maplewood, which -- we're in the 27th District. We have 24,000 people. And I think Sheila Oliver said it best a little over an hour ago: that the importance here is to make sure that we reflect the state, all people in the state.

And I want to echo the words that many of the speakers have expressed this evening against policies that would pack minorities in certain districts. And that would have the effect of bleaching other districts, making them more white. (applause) For ourselves in Maplewood, we pride ourselves in working to have an inclusive, diverse community. We spend public funds for that effort because we think it's important. We think it's important that we represent the real world.

And in the 27th District, I believe that that is also what we do. We represent the real world. I think it is so important -- my colleague from Orange, Mayor Hawkins, was here. I think it's so important that Orange, and Maplewood, and South Orange, and the Caldwells are all together in one community, one legislative community, so that our representatives have to represent everyone. And I think that's the true test -- not to represent a

small segment, but to represent everyone. And I think that's what I want to speak for. I want to speak for the continuity of what we're doing in Maplewood in trying to live in a diverse, inclusive community, and have the redistricting reflect that -- reflect a policy that says we're going to represent everybody in this state.

So I urge you-- And I understand, you know, this is a political process. At the end of the day, all the transparency and all the openness are not going to matter. It's going to matter what the map is. And you're going to have to decide on how best to do that. And the best way to do that is to make sure that everyone is counted, to make sure that the map is fair, to make sure that no one is slighted here, and that everyone is entitled to what is so important -- is that right to vote and that right to have representation.

Thank you very much. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you.

Is this Susan Gartland?

**S U S A N G A R T L A N D:** Yes, I am. Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you.

MS. GARTLAND: Thank you for the opportunity to speak in front of all of you.

I know that you're all responsible for a huge decision-making process. And I know we only go through this every 10 years. But I represented the Borough of Caldwell for 24 years, 20 of those years as a Councilwoman and 4 as a mayor. And as a former mayor -- many of the mayors who have come up here have basically said that the representation and the concerns of each of the smaller towns impact where-- In Essex County, we've got wonderful representation. I'm in the 27th Legislative

District, represented by Senator Codey, Assemblyman John McKeon, and Assemblywoman Mila Jasey. They've done a wonderful job knowing, understanding, and representing their district, as have all of the legislators.

And when you're considering redistricting, I would hope that you take into consideration, as Mayor Hawkins said, those districts that are familiar -- that their legislators are concerned and have brought so much to the table, as far as each of those communities go.

So good luck to you. I know it's a huge job. Congratulations on giving the opportunity for everyone to be able to testify.

Thank you for this opportunity. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Mayor.

Next, I'd like to call Reggie Jones, a resident of Summit; followed by Bob Davison, West Caldwell.

Mr. Jones.

**REGINALD JONES:** My name is Reggie Jones. I'm here to state my testimony before the New Jersey Apportionment Commission, February 9, 2011.

Thank you for giving me this opportunity to speak before you today. This process, without a doubt, impacts the important issues facing our state for the next 10 years. I hope it will also ensure fair political representation. Because of that, it is very important that your meetings be in the open where all of us can see.

First, I am also here today to ask you to ensure the principle of our Constitution of one person, one vote. There are some people who have said that we need to make a map based on how many people voted in our -- in one or two elections. They wanted to draw the map on turnout in

elections where one party -- they did well. They don't want to draw a map based on the turnout from 2008, for example, when the other party did well -- did very well around the state, and when people of color and voters in urban districts turned out in large numbers. It is an attempt to draw a map that doesn't provide equal representation, and I oppose of it.

Second, much has been made of the right to vote. But there is also a right that we have in this country, and that is the right to not vote. Should I receive more or less representation because my neighbors decided to exercise their right to not vote? This is a terrible idea and the wrong path to go down for our state.

These public hearings are excellent first steps, and I hope you will continue to meet in daylight where we can all see your meetings and participate. I hope that the Commission will continue to give the public enough notice before any hearings so that New Jersey can all come here if they want to. I ask you to continue this for the rest of the process -- of this process. And I ask that the comments on your website be made part of the record for those who cannot make it.

Taking these steps will help ensure the public trusts your final map and make sure it's fair -- represents the needs and minorities (*sic*) of New Jersey residents. I hope that the course of your deliberations -- you will work toward a fair and transparent process, and a result that respects the rights of all New Jersey residents.

Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Mr. Jones, thank you for your testimony.

Next will be Bob Davison; followed by Rex Reid, AFSCME New Jersey Council 1.

**B O B D A V I S O N:** Good evening, ladies and gentlemen.

My name is Bob Davison, and I'm a private citizen. I'm from 53 Francisco Avenue, in West Caldwell, New Jersey.

First, I would like to associate myself with the remarks of Speaker Oliver and Senator Ruiz. I agree with them that to pack minorities into individual districts based upon the color of their skin or their voter participation would be immoral and unconstitutional.

Secondly, I would like to associate myself with the comments of Mayor DeLuca, Mayor Hawkins, and Mayor Gartland. As a lifelong resident of Essex County and as a 10-year resident of the 27th District, I think we've had outstanding representation. And I hope that by and large that representation will be allowed to continue.

Lastly, I would like to add something new. My daytime job is -- I'm a mental health advocate. I'm an advocate for the disabled. And all three of our elected officials in the 27th District have provided outstanding representation for those of us in New Jersey who suffer from severe and persistent mental illness, and for those of us that are developmentally disabled. I don't see any of those individuals represented here tonight in the public hearing. I don't see any of those individuals represented among the Commissioners. But I hope when you draw the map that you consider, and allow those individuals to be represented. And we've really had no finer representative for those individuals than Senator Codey, as well as Assemblyman McKeon and Assemblywoman Jasey.

Thank you very much. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

Rex Reid; following him will be Robert Parisi, from West Orange.

**R E X R E I D:** My name is Rex Reid. I'm the Political Action Director for the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, New Jersey Administrative Legislative Council 1.

Thank you for this opportunity to express my concerns on redistricting in New Jersey. Within any democracy, the right of the citizenry to elect their legislative representatives based on one person, one vote is of paramount importance. And in the State of New Jersey, in the United States of America, it is constitutionally mandated that every 10 years after the Census, a new map based on the shift of the population within the state be redrawn.

We are here to ask for transparency in this process, which will give each New Jersey resident fair and full representation -- one person, one vote -- and recognize those communities that have grown in population with fair and full representation as the Constitution requires. The map that the Commission finally presents should maintain these fundamental rights of equal representation in legislative districts based on population as determined by the Census. The map should not have disparities in population between districts, as this would weaken its representatives' power and call into question its constitutionality. The New Jersey map needs to meet constitutional standards by providing fair and equal representation for all New Jersey citizens of all backgrounds.

For the public to perceive this process as fair, open, and transparent, as much as possible should be done with public participation. The Commission should take steps to ensure access of the physically challenged. Hearings should not be held on the Sabbath. Any and all barriers to full public participation should be removed. Hearings should be held after the 11th neutral Commissioner is appointed and the release of any maps as to allow the public review and comment. The Commission should do this to afford meaningful public contribution to the debate. At the same time that the maps are submitted to the members of the Commission, they should be posted on the central website and afford interested citizens the ability to have -- update input, and do this via e-mail; as well as public comment in the same way.

I urge the Commission to consider and adopt the commonsense measures to make the process for reapportionment fair, open, and a safeguard of the basic constitutional rights of the citizens of New Jersey.

Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you very much.

I'm told that Mr. Parisi had to depart.

I'd next like to call Mayor Fernandez, of Livingston; followed by former Councilwoman Gayle Chaneyfield-Jenkins, from Newark.

**MAYOR RUDY FERNANDEZ:** Thank you, all, for the important work that you're doing.

I've also invited Councilman Gary Schneiderman, a member of the Livingston Town Council, as well.

You've heard, tonight, many important arguments that you will consider in your work. But I wanted to get down to a little bit more of a basic argument on behalf of Livingston.

We are a member of Essex County. And over the past 10 years, since the last redistricting, there have been -- our representation that we've received -- and from telephone calls that I've gotten just over this past weekend -- has been very, very good. We share many common interests with the other Essex County towns that have been up here. And I think it's important that the town remain with them. We have-- Even though we are of a variety of different municipalities, we do have very common interests. And I think it's important that when you consider the redistricting that you consider the lines that are being drawn, that you consider those common interests and keep us with the other towns that have been -- we have been with for the past 10 years.

Do you have anything to add?

**C O U N C I L M A N G A R Y S C H N E I D E R M A N:** You asked that there be--

**ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI:** Just use the other microphone, which amplifies.

**COUNCILMAN SCHNEIDERMAN:** You asked that there be no repetition, so we thought we'd come up together and keep it as short as possible.

**ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI:** We do appreciate that.  
(laughter)

**MAYOR FERNANDEZ:** We didn't want to repeat the other things that have been said, and allow other members who are here to speak.

So we thank you very much for your time and appreciate all the work that you've done.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Mayor, Councilman, thank you for your testimony.

MAYOR FERNANDEZ: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Former Councilwoman Gayle Chaneyfield-Jenkins.

She'll be followed by former Senator Bill Schluter.

**G A Y L E C H A N E Y F I E L D - J E N K I N S:** Good evening, everyone.

First of all, let me say thank you to the committee for allowing us the opportunity to address our legislative body. It is not often that we get a chance to see you face-to-face and to understand the hard work that lies before you.

I, too, want to commend the comments of the majority of the speakers who came before me -- more specifically, Orange Mayor, and the Mayor from Maplewood, Senator Rice -- and some of the things that were said about not packing and making sure that there is not a bleaching of the community.

But I also want to stress the fact that I believe that -- in representation -- that this board has a unique opportunity to have us cross party lines. I am one of those people who believe in the fact that at some point in time, our citizenry is smart enough to vote for the person who will best represent the community based on the public policy issues that faces it, and do not put public policy forth that will hurt our communities.

So that is why we pray that you make sure this map is fair and that there is real representation, and that-- Senator Rice raised an issue that the districts haven't changed that much, and there's not that much of a need to change the maps. I don't know if that's accurate or not. But I would hope that if there is consideration that is done, that it is done for the fairness and representation of everyone; and that there is transparency, and that there is an opportunity for representation to increase based not just on the fact that -- race or gender, but to increase the representation based on the person who is going to serve public policy in our communities, and the respect of the voters to understand the difference between the two.

I would also ask that consideration be given to the fact that legislators who are familiar with the community not be pushed out to the side, and that there are people who -- not pit us against. I've been hearing a lot of the African-American community, the Latino community, and the minorities. And I just hope that this board takes into consideration that we don't want to pit one nationality, one ethnic group against another. Because at the end of the day, we're all New Jerseyans, and the pie is big enough for everyone to split. And certainly what -- this be the beginning of the melding of the red and the blue state, and make it a purple state. Because at the end of the day, everybody is hurting. (applause)

So if anybody has left the State of New Jersey, it is because of the fact that voters are disenfranchised and they don't come out. So that one vote, one person cannot possibly count. Because in our communities, we have unique public policy issues that have disenfranchised people. So I would hope that that is taken into more consideration -- that if you all have

the opportunity to do something unique, and do it, that voter turnout will certainly increase in the future.

Thank you very much. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you very much.

After former Senator Schluter, Carmen Southward and Lori Ruzich.

**FORMER SENATOR WILLIAM E. SCHLUTER:**  
Assemblymen, Senators, and other members, I wish you well in your undertaking. You certainly have an awesome job.

As a former legislator, I am very familiar with the process that you are undergoing here. I have been both the beneficiary of redistricting and a victim of it.

My comments tonight will not be repetitive of anything that's being said, they'll be something totally new. And that is the matter of competitiveness of the districts in New Jersey, which I think is a concern. It might not be a concern which your Commission addresses in the sessions that you're undertaking, but it might be a concern in the future for the welfare of the State of New Jersey.

And I say this as a former Chairman of the Clean Elections Commission of New Jersey, when we did an analysis back in 2005 and 2006 of districts as far as competitiveness. And we had to do this because we were coming up with recommendations for what districts might be recommended for the future for engaging in this Clean Elections program. And what we didn't want to do was get districts which were not competitive, which were totally safe, because it would not be a good distribution of this particular process.

So we came up with some analysis, which you have in the packet that I gave you. I know it's a lot more detail than you want to get into now, but take it back with you and look it over very carefully, because this is accurate detail. One of these charts, which shows seven columns -- which is based on voting patterns in past elections in New Jersey, and it shows the spread between the two parties. And by this analysis, there are only three districts in the state that are competitive, and they're under 5 percent difference between the spread and voting patterns. There may be another five or six that are close to that, that are moderately competitive. They are between 10 and 15 percent. But all the rest of them -- and you can look at the districts, and you know your districts very well -- are not competitive. And I think this is something that should be looked at, whether your Commission is going to look at it or not.

We also did a study of the registration, which is another chart that you have, which verifies the distribution of competitive districts that was in the voting pattern chart, and that is included with your materials.

Now, why is competitiveness so important in a state like New Jersey? Well, if you want to attract talented people into government, you have to have districts where they could have a chance of success. And where there are too many safe districts and too many districts that are dominated by one party or the other party, they just don't enter into the process; and this is not, I think, a good thing for government.

The competitive districts will get office holders who are fully engaged in government and are working very hard all the time to do their best, because they know that they have to satisfy all the constituents in their district. The matter of public confidence suffers because of lack of

competitiveness. When a district is safe, candidates just -- candidates running for election don't get involved, the media doesn't pay any attention to them, and the overall discourse during the campaign is diminished.

Finally, the fact that you have just a few competitive districts means that you will have all of your finances targeted to those districts, and you won't get much money into the other districts where people will, again, have very scarce knowledge of what's going on and of the candidates.

So I think that there are possibilities, there are samples that are put forth by Ben Brickner and his work -- which I think you all have -- of how you can do -- how you can factor in competitiveness. I would urge you to at least take a look at them. I would hope that we have more competitive districts after the result of your deliberations than we have now. And in getting competitiveness in a district -- it's like Speaker Oliver said -- you have to have diversity. And to get diversity, you go to those points which will bring you diversity. So if you have-- If you're looking for competitiveness, you can use the same process to bring together those areas of a district which will give you more competition.

So with that, I thank you very much for your attention, and I would urge you to look at some of these figures very, very carefully. Because maybe this might not be a hot issue in what you're doing, but certainly I think in the years to come -- from all of the literature that's come out on reapportionment -- that it is something that's going to come up.

Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Senator.

MR. PALATUCCI: Mr. Chair, if I could.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Mr. Palatucci.

MR. PALATUCCI: Quick question.

Thank you, Senator.

It's a very important topic we haven't talked a lot about. So I'm glad you raised it.

My question is -- and I appreciate the information you gave us. I will take it home and really take a look at it.

One or two questions-- One is: In the analysis that you provide -- although I only took a look at it quickly. And I think in your comments you said you used '03 and '05 as numbers for measurement. But there's no magic to any particular year. Is that correct?

SENATOR SCHLUTER: That's correct.

MR. PALATUCCI: And so whether you want to do even years or odd years, competitiveness in which years you might use might be in the eye of the beholder.

SENATOR SCHLUTER: Well, I think -- and I do suggest that if you go for a competitiveness factor -- and I would hope you get more competitive districts than we have right now -- you would use '07 and '09 numbers. Now, the reason that those numbers were picked by us on the Clean Elections Commission, and the reason that I would suggest that you go to -- because they're off years, and they were picked on the Assembly races, the votes between Republicans and Democrats, which I think is a very good, neutral guide as far as the affiliation of how people are going. So it's important what years you have and what offices you select in making your analysis.

MR. PALATUCCI: Thank you, Senator.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Majority Leader Cryan.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: Senator, thank you.

A question for you: In this data, is there anything in terms of competitive primaries?

SENATOR SCHLUTER: No, there is not.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: Okay. So when we factor in this data, is there anything we should look at, or would there be anything in here that would help us understand? In some of these particular safe districts, there are, in fact, competitive primaries, are there not?

SENATOR SCHLUTER: This is correct. But the fact of the matter is, as some of the commentary in the testimony that I presented -- where you have an overwhelmingly dominated district by one party -- the action is in the primary. And very often--

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: That's correct. So, in fact, there is some competitiveness there.

SENATOR SCHLUTER: There is, that is correct. Very often the public is not as much aware of primaries as they are of the general election.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: And, Senator, if I can, just one other point. You mentioned that there are three competitive -- highly competitive districts, in your view, as of the time of this data. I couldn't help but think, as you said it-- The day after Election Day this year, there were four split districts in the State Legislature: Districts 2, 4, 7, and 14. And in addition, I couldn't help but take a look here-- In the '05 data, I believe the Senator from the 12th District was named Ellen Karcher. She's not named that now. And I think -- would you also agree -- as I take a look at this in terms of competitiveness, your data here shows, for example,

there's a 65 percent Republican advantage in District 1 in terms of that, yet it's represented by three Democratic legislators. So we should also, I assume -- would you help me? If I understand the data correctly, I should also assume that, in fact, the public can, in fact, look at issues, candidates, as well as the data that you provide in terms of making a decision. If one were to only look at that data that you provided, one would assume that, for example, in District 1, all three legislators would naturally be Republican. Is that correct?

SENATOR SCHLUTER: Yes, there are aberrations here. And you are correct, Assemblyman, in pointing them out. In District 12, which Karcher was the incumbent Senator, there was six times as much money spent on her campaign as the one who beat -- as Senator Beck, who beat her. But the fact of the matter is, Senator Beck had enough money to at least be a credible candidate. And the district is basically Republican.

I think that you, with your knowledge of the districts and your knowledge of the people in them -- we can see some flaws in this. But you can understand District 7 is a split district. Well, Diane Allen is a very large personality there who is going to go across party lines. But the basic core of that district is Democratic.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: So, in fact, constituents, under those examples that you use, are able to understand -- whether it's a minority district or whether it's a competitive district-- I think what you're telling me is, if I use District 7 as an example, constituents do know what their legislators stand for and, in fact, are able to vote, in fact, at times on split party lines. Is that correct?

SENATOR SCHLUTER: I think that that is an exception, but there are many examples in the safe and dominated districts where you just don't get any kind of competition, and you don't get a dialogue, really, in the course --

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: Thank you, Senator.

SENATOR SCHLUTER: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Senator.

Carmen Southward.

She will be followed by Lori Ruzich.

**C A R M E N S O U T H W A R D:** Good evening.

I came before you in Toms River a few weeks ago before I knew that I would have the opportunity to address you here more locally. I'm here again this evening on behalf of my community, mostly from Elizabeth, and on behalf of the fellow Latinos and Hispanics who trust me with carrying their message.

My intention is not to rehash tonight what you already have a solid understanding for. It is simply to reaffirm our position as previously stated in Toms River and highlight points brought to better light through the release of the new Census numbers.

New Jersey's Hispanic population has increased exponentially over the last decade, from 13 percent to nearly 18 percent. Just as we had thought, we are clearly in a position to have Hispanic districts formed. According to the Census data, there is no good reason why Hispanics today should still struggle to be well-represented. It only seems logical that a concentration of Hispanics in any one area would yield representation that reflects the population. In our opinion, to suggest that a diluted Hispanic

population over several areas would yield better representation throughout is, in our opinion, an attempt to suppress the Hispanic voice.

One of our local leaders recently stated, and stated here this evening, that the outcome of this process must be a legislative map that is fair to every New Jerseyan, and enables a Legislature that actually looks like our state rather than packing minorities into as few districts as possible, as some would prefer. To clarify this point: Hispanics are not being packed into districts, nor is that what we are suggesting. We are in these districts and represent the majority. Therefore, your concern for fairness is best served by allowing us to be mapped exactly for what and where we are. As an example, we are not packed, and cannot be packed, into 59.5 percent of Elizabeth. We are 59.5 percent of the population in Elizabeth.

Further stated by our local leaders, this map must be constitutional, it must be forward-looking, it must give New Jersey residents a Legislature attuned to their lives and needs. We could not agree with you more. That is precisely why we urge this Commission to consider a new map that gives Hispanic a voice in their own districts.

Secondly, we will be relentless and resilient in our efforts to seek the proper representation. A Legislature that is properly attuned to our lives and needs will be representation that speaks our language, both literally and figuratively; representation that is not afraid to speak our language in front of others or carry our message exactly the way we convey it. We demand legislators who walk our communities and have a genuine concern for our lives.

Historically, Latinos have been your chefs, your landscapers, your construction workers, your military, and even your childcare providers.

So, surely, to be trusted with your children is to be trusted. Today we ask you to trust that we know exactly what we are asking you for, and that it is our communities of Hispanic -- and that our communities of Hispanics are given the opportunity to come together in great numbers in order to ensure our place in the legislative body.

Today we came in a group of about 50 in this room and standing in the back. But please don't lose sight of the fact that, outside these doors, we are communities of thousands and a majority in many cities throughout the State of New Jersey. We understand that not everyone may agree with the perspective we bring to you today, but we do urge you to continue considering -- for that is what adds to this nation's diversity.

Finally, Assemblyman Coutinho stated that Newark's East Ward had no representation for 50 years. I know all too well the effects of not having representation or proper representation, as I was born and raised in this city, and my mother was fired from a local factory when she was pregnant with me. So while we've done better to get representation, we're not there, and there is still a lot of work to be done. We don't want token representation; we want true representation.

Thank you for your patience, consideration, and thorough understanding of our (indiscernible). (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Ma'am, we have a question.

So your position is that, to create districts with a majority of minority population to-- That's the way to elect a greater number of minority representatives.

MS. SOUTHWARD: It is. In our opinion, that is -- we are going to have the advantage that way and have better representation.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: And is that always the case in every legislative district -- where you have a majority of minority voters electing minority representatives?

MS. SOUTHWARD: Perhaps it is not. And I'm probably not as politically savvy as most of you are here today. But I can tell you I don't gamble; but if I had to, I'd go with the better odds. And I would say that having a majority group -- a majority of Latinos in a certain area -- concentration of them -- is going to yield better chances to have that same type of representation.

It's not to say that we have to have a Latino represent a Latino group. But we are looking for the proper representation, because the representation that we have had, we don't feel, is sensitive to our issues.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: What do you mean by proper representation?

MS. SOUTHWARD: Representation that's chosen by the people -- actually chosen by the people.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Are you familiar with the 33rd District?

MS. SOUTHWARD: Enlighten me, please.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Fifty-four percent Hispanic population. Do you know who the Senator is in that district?

MS. SOUTHWARD: Could you tell me what the 54th is?

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thirty-third District.

MS. SOUTHWARD: Excuse me, 33rd.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Union City.

MS. SOUTHWARD: I don't, I'm sorry.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Senator Brian Stack.

MS. SOUTHWARD: Okay.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: And so does that support your argument or refute your argument?

MS. SOUTHWARD: You know, I didn't want to get into this exchange. What I can talk to you about specifically is what I am very familiar with, and that's the community that I represent. So in Elizabeth, for example, our Senator-- We have Senator Lesniak; we have Assemblywoman Quijano, who I don't know -- who I think I should know -- and we have Assemblyman Cryan. I don't feel that in Elizabeth we're well-represented. We're 59.5 percent of that population, and I don't feel that our issues are well-represented when you have legislators who are encouraging or pushing for laws that directly have negative effects on our children, on our Latino community.

I didn't want to get into those specifics and that exchange tonight. But Assemblywoman Quijano, for example -- she's not been elected by the people. She's been appointed, if I'm not mistaken.

MS. CRUZ-PEREZ: No, she's elected.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: She's elected.

MS. CRUZ-PEREZ: She was elected twice.

MS. SOUTHWARD: She was elected again? Okay, I'm sorry. But when she was appointed -- she was initially appointed.

MS. CRUZ-PEREZ: Appointed, and then elected two times.

MS. SOUTHWARD: By the county committee.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: There was a vacancy.

MS. SOUTHWARD: Which isn't reflective of our population.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Senator Sarlo.

SENATOR SARLO: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I get confused here. Usually you hit the button to speak.  
(referring to PA microphone)

Phil, what are you doing to us here?

Through you, Mr. Chairman, do you live in Elizabeth?

MS. SOUTHWARD: I live in Linden.

SENATOR SARLO: Oh, you live in Linden. Okay. I know you're very up-to-speed on what's going on in Elizabeth. You have a great-- There's a great-- I was going to say you have a great Mayor. There is a great Mayor in Elizabeth, in Mayor Bollwage, who does an outstanding job. He comes down to the Legislature and is a big advocate for the folks of Elizabeth, which is a diverse city, and does an excellent job.

Is there any reason why the city, in your opinion -- since you do know a lot about Elizabeth -- that has 59 percent of minority representation continues to elect a Caucasian in Mayor Bollwage? Any thoughts?

MS. SOUTHWARD: I'd rather not comment. I'm sorry.

Thank you.

SENATOR SARLO: Okay. I just-- You've talked a lot about Elizabeth and representation, and I've just noticed in my years in the Legislature -- I've always watched them reelect Mayor Bollwage, and I think he does a great job. He represents every aspect of that community, every person of that community, regardless of what ethnic background.

MS. SOUTHWARD: I don't know how he represents every person. He does continue to get elected, but he's also a mayor that refuses

to acknowledge that there's a severe gang problem in Elizabeth. So I'm not sure that he represents every person. (applause)

SENATOR SARLO: The reason I'm asking the question is: We've talked a lot about Elizabeth, and we talk a lot about Passaic and other cities. The people in these communities choose who they feel is the best person to represent them, and people who represent them -- who represent the needs of a diversified population. So in a particular instance-- I understand when you talk about gangs. We have gang problems all over the state. And the way we're going to deal with it is more law enforcement, more presence of police on the street. That's a debate for another day, and we will have the debate during the budget hearings.

But I just wanted to point out-- We talk a lot about Elizabeth, but there is a Caucasian Mayor there, and he's been elected overwhelmingly by the 59 percent of the minority district.

MS. SOUTHWARD: He has.

SENATOR SARLO: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MS. SOUTHWARD: And with that, I'd just like to follow up by telling you that I don't know that you could convince me, ever, that a white male can be completely understanding of my needs as a Latino female. While you may be sympathetic to some of my causes, you will never walk in my shoes. So the point that I was trying to drive home is that if we're going to be represented in a 59.5 percent -- you know, area of Latinos -- by a white male, then he better do a really good job in listening to all of our concerns. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Senator, unfortunately I have to allow the court reporter to change his paper, or nobody will hear anything after this. (laughter) So if we could just--

SENATOR SARLO: Okay.

COURT REPORTER: Thank you.

SENATOR SARLO: Just one final comment -- and I know we probably respectfully disagree on this. We talked about District 32. There is, in Senator Brian Stack -- Mayor Stack -- there is nobody who works harder in the Legislature than he does for his district. And if you go to that town, he represents the Hispanic population unbelievably. What that man does day in and day out for that population is just incredible. And he works so hard for them. I know you don't -- may know that area; but they could not get a better representative than Mayor Stack.

MS. SOUTHWARD: And to your point, good for him, and I'm glad he does. But to drive my point home: If it's not going to be Latino representation for a Latino community, then it should be proper representation. So good for Mayor Brian Stack.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: I have a question.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Speaker Oliver.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Yes, hi. I'm getting intrigued by this conversation. (laughter)

You told me that you're from Linden.

MS. SOUTHWARD: I am.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Tell me about the local level. Tell me about the history of mayoral representation and your municipal council in Linden.

MS. SOUTHWARD: Can I ask you why you're asking that so we can get to the point? Because I don't want it to be-- Because what I want to make clear here to the public is, I'm not a politician. I am citizen who came here to voice my opinion on something.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Absolutely.

MS. SOUTHWARD: So I just want to make sure that it's fair, so I can answer your question to a certain extent.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Correct.

MS. SOUTHWARD: But I'd like to know what you're driving at.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: As a member of the reapportionment committee, I have interest not only in the maps that will be drawn for the 40 legislative districts, I also have interest in what occurs within the communities in those districts.

MS. SOUTHWARD: Okay.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: So I am asking-- You're describing Elizabeth. I am asking, if I were to look at the other communities in Union County-- We've heard-- We heard from Mr. Christian, who have us excellent numerical reference. And he talked about the growth of the Hispanic population statewide. I was looking at some documents. I, for instance, looked at Monmouth Borough, where there is 49 percent Latino population. At the local level, they're not represented on the municipal council or in City Hall.

MS. SOUTHWARD: Right.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: So I was-- I'm trying to, analytically, carry through the premise that you're representing. And that's

why I asked you about the local communities within that district. What does it look like in terms of local representation.

MS. SOUTHWARD: I can tell you what I do know.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: It helps me, as a Commissioner.

MS. SOUTHWARD: Sure. I can tell you what I do know. I can tell you that in Linden, it's a population of approximately 40,000 and change -- you know, citizens. About 25 percent of them are Latinos, about another 25 percent are African-American. And then roughly the rest is white. There is probably a small percentage there that is other. I don't see that reflected in our local community, in our local politics. Okay? I don't see that in our City Council, I don't see that reflection with our Mayor. In fact, we near enough had an African-American mayor elected who won at the polls and then, unfortunately, lost with an absentee ballot. But that would have been a great stride for us as minorities as a whole.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

MS. SOUTHWARD: Okay. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Next up is Lori Ruzich.

**L O R I R U Z I C H:** Ruzich. (indicating pronunciation)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Ruzich. (indicating pronunciation) Thank you.

And after her will be Karen Beal.

Lori, please begin.

MS. RUZICH: Good evening.

I'm from Verona, New Jersey. I'm here tonight, and I thank you all very much for your hard work.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Can't hear you. Speak up, please. We can't hear you.

MS. RUZICH: Thank you, committee, for the hard work that you obviously have ahead of you and that you're willing to do for us.

I'm here tonight just hoping that when you make the decisions about redistricting, you will take time and really notice the great work that has been done in Essex County by the legislators there. And I would be very, very frightened to see the redistricting taking away any of those fine gentlemen, specifically Senator Codey. He has shown, time and again, leadership, compassion, and availability to the people of Essex County.

I specifically was touched and very moved by something that got me here tonight. And it's been a wonderful process listening to all of this. But I hope that you will hear this.

When somebody represents you and they have your best interest at heart, I think there is no greater time in your life that that could come to real fruition -- when I made a phone call. Somebody called me and said that a fellow employee -- young mom -- was in the hospital about to embark on breast cancer surgery, and she was denied her insurance at the 11th hour.

I get a phone call because somebody knows I know Senator Codey adjacently through our children. And I really feel a little awkward, but I make a call, hoping that he would take the call, hoping that he could help. The woman was already ready for surgery, waiting on her surgery in the hospital. He said to me, "How is this possible, blah, blah?" And within

24 hours, the woman was having her surgery. He had rectified the problem with the insurance company. And, quite honestly, that kind of dedication, that kind of commitment to the people who he looks over is something that I hope I am not going to be missing after the redistricting.

Thank you very much.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you very much for your testimony.

We are trying to get the lighting situation sorted out so they don't keep going on and off.

Ms. Beal.

**KAREN BEAL:** Hello.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: And after Ms. Beal is 10-4 Evans and Gary Frede.

MS. BEAL: Good evening.

My name is Karen Beal, B-E-A-L.

First of all, I would like to thank the entire committee for having us here. I have learned an awful lot. I foolishly always assumed that you had the right to vote for who you wanted to. I didn't know that we had lines and boundaries. And I really need to learn a lot more, but I'm not here for that right now. I have to catch up on that later.

I have a little bit of a problem speaking. I had a brain aneurism.

You know what you have; you don't know what you're going to get. You don't know what you've got until you lose it. And I can only tell you that in 2002, I had to take my mother from the hospital because she

had been in a nursing home, and they refused to care for her. She fell, fractured her skull, her pelvis in three places, ribs.

I brought her to my home. Health care is atrocious. She fell on July 23. My brother was on vacation in Denver to find himself. At the age of 50 -- motorcycle accident. He was in ICU in Denver at St. Joseph's, and my mom was in my living room. So my sister went to Denver, I stayed with mom. In the interim, I had to hire somebody to take care of my mom during the day when I went to work, and then I took care of her through the night and every weekend unless I had to work. And I worked at St. Barnabas for 38 years. So there is a lot about the health care that I do know. It's declining, and it's to the point where we should all be afraid. I wouldn't leave a child in a hospital by itself.

In any event, I was ready to hang myself. I am not kidding. I was ready to do it. I had my brother, who was discharged from another nursing home, from Kessler -- a step-down unit, to my front door while I had my mother in a hospital bed in my living room. I was trying to get my brother into Universal. It's a facility in Livingston for traumatic brain injury patients. But every time I tried, the door was shut. "He has to be coming directly from the hospital. No, he's got to be in the hospital. We'll go see him." He gets in the hospital-- I mean, it went on, and on, and on.

Finally, Senator Codey looked at the reports from the social workers and-- I'm sorry. But what it boiled down to was, the social workers were screwing up, saying he was this, when he was that. You can't have a closed-head injury and be paralyzed on your left side, in a coma, and not have brain damage. He does. I mean, any man who urinates into a woman's refrigerator in the middle of the night-- I was ready. I just

couldn't take it anymore. There is only so much you can do, and the healthcare system is not there for you.

Senator Codey was there for me. He didn't know me, he didn't ask me if I was a Democrat or a Republican. I wrote a letter, because I couldn't even -- at that time-- Well, of course, in May of '05 I had a brain aneurism. So my brother ended up in the hospital. Senator Codey then, at that point, arranged for his staff to help go to the nursing home, get part of his records. And my brother was then transferred to Universal in Livingston. And I know Livingston-- But do you know what? They take care of him. He's got a roof over his head, he has physical therapy, occupational therapy, and he's like a 7-year-old kid, but he's 55 years old.

So please don't take Senator Codey away. Please. That's all I ask. I know you guys have a rough-- I'm amazed. I can't-- Congratulations. I just cannot believe all the work that you have to do. I mean, no wonder that House-- I wonder when I watch C-Span -- I should not watch that, because it makes me crazy. It's like, how can you accomplish anything? Look at these two Houses going back and forth. And this is just a state -- one state.

So, God bless you and thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony. Thank you.

State your name for the record, please.

**10 - 4 EVANS:** Good evening, everybody.

My name is 10-4 Evans. I'm here for the South District Police Council Relations in the South Ward.

As we speak today and come forth to you -- to know the whole history. First off, I want those senior citizens -- this is my main concern -- those senior citizens who are handicapped -- have those (indiscernible) and those apartments fixed for them to come out. This is part of the job of the Assembly, and also the Councilmen to get on board. We cannot put it on the Assembly persons when you got your Council that isn't doing nothing. You need them to work too with the Assembly, and the people in the area who work with the Assembly and your Senators. And you can see what's going on. And that's what I want to be done now, because the senior citizens are going down the tube.

And a lot of people cannot handle the handicapped. How would you feel -- your father handicapped, cannot get out of the door? Those apartment buildings in Newark -- they're supposed to have automatic doors to open up for those handicapped people, and I'm tired of (indiscernible), I want them done. This is what 10-4 Evans is about: the people. It's not about me, it's about the people. And the senior citizens are who brought you here today. Without them, you could not do your job.

The next thing is: I think we need to focus on the issue here (indiscernible) want to change the map. Is the map going to change for the -- improve people, or going to demote someone? We do not need to change the map if it's going to demote somebody out of their spot, like Codey. I know Senator Codey. Senator Codey has worked very well in Newark. I've been around here-- Assemblywoman Oliver -- I know her very well. She has worked very well in the Legislature. But when you come to the point where we stand-- I don't want people to come here and just talk and just talk. Let's get action done when you change this map.

Thank you, and have a good night. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

Gary Frede, Dem District Leader, 34th District. (no response)

I'm not seeing Gary.

Joseph Nardone, resident of Newark; followed by Leonard Thomas.

Are you Mr. Nardone?

**J O S E P H N A R D O N E:** Yes, I am.

Thank you for having me.

I am not going to give a long talk, because I've been sitting here, as well, as you've been sitting here. And people have come up here and they have spoken quite eloquently about what is -- how this committee -- and with numbers and so forth, and about the actions of this committee that we hope you will take.

I just wanted to reiterate the fact that I have heard that you want -- that an idea has been put out that people -- that the map should be redrawn based on voter turnout. And I think that's a very bad idea. I would oppose that idea. I am an honorably discharged veteran of the United States Army, and I-- When you become a soldier, you take an oath to defend the Constitution of the United States. And as a defender of that Constitution, I believe in one man, one vote. And I believe in-- And I use the word *man* generically, so please do not misunderstand me. But there should be one vote per person. And to say because somebody didn't vote that the map should be drawn on voter turnout -- I think that is totally wrong.

I think it would be an excellent idea, as has been said before, that this committee posts its map -- probably its proposed map -- on its website so that people can see what is proposed.

I have not had a chance to look at the Census numbers, but I have heard that the districts have changed very little. And it seems to me that maybe the map doesn't need to be changed very much as well. I come from the East Ward, the Ironbound Section of Newark. And we have a very diverse population there. Someone did a study once and they came up with something like 50 different types of ethnic groups in our area. So we have-- We all vote, we all get together. I'm a community activist. And when something affects our community, such as people wanting to put pollution into our community, everybody turns out -- a large number of people. We get people of every stripe there.

The maps need to be drawn based on one vote, one person. And that's what I hope this committee will attempt to do.

Thank you very much. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Mr. Nardone.

Leonard Thomas, followed by Margarita Muniz.

**LEONARD THOMAS:** Good evening.

My name is Leonard Thomas. I'm from the East Ward of Newark.

A lot of the things I really wanted to say tonight have been covered already, so I guess I'm not going to repeat those.

We need a process that's going to be transparent. That's obvious. I think it's good that we have our work put out in the open so that people can see what is going on. Your process, right now, puts a lot of

pressure on all of you. I know we have political concerns for one party or the other. But what you do essentially could be a self-fulfilling prophecy for the next 10 years.

If we base our maps on turnout, that's what it's going to be, because you're saying this is what it should look like. We need to base our maps on the people who are there, the voters who are there. And if we have it so that it's accessible, then they will turn out, there won't be that problem with having people not coming out there.

I spoke to a couple during election time. And one of the reasons they don't come out is because their district has them situated so far away from their polling place. And so unless it's just a really -- what they see as important, they're not going to make that extra effort to come out. And sometimes that's whether they have a person who is really going to be representing them or not. So that's really important to have so they can be accessible. And if they have that access to representation, that's going to give them the type of life that they want as a citizen. So their vote will really count for what they're looking for.

So I ask you, again, pay attention to the transparency of this operation. I think the idea of having a map that is being put out so people can look at it and comment on the map as it's developed is good. I also agree that the person who is going to be the deciding vote should be part of this process now. It seems like he would have to go back and revisit all the things we've done so far. And that's going to make that process that much slower and then put more pressure at the very end to put something in fast. It makes more sense to have him in place now.

I'm really pleased with some of the progress that we've made already. And I think it speaks to the fact that we don't need to pack districts, we don't need to have everybody of one type in a district. Because we're not always the same, even though we may look the same. I'm sure as you look around the table that people who may look like you may not agree with you. I mean, right now, we have people from two different parties, and a lot of you look alike, but you don't think alike. (laughter) And the same thing happens to people in our neighborhoods. We may look alike, but we don't all have the same views, we don't have the same visions, we're not all alike. So that part is not necessarily true. We do have many similar things, this is true. But we need representation that is going to speak to that. And the way we get that representation is to have somebody who is going to be elected by us to give us that representation.

So this is basically what I wanted to say. Most of the other things have been said. I agree with a lot of the things that have been said. Again, transparency, I feel, is very important. And I wish you well in your job. And I hope to come back again to see the types of things that you're doing as we go through this process.

Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Mr. Thomas, thank you.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Chairman.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Oh, Mr. Thomas, we have a question for you.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: No, I just want to share information. There are many things we don't do well in Trenton, but one thing we thought we did well was when we passed legislation that permitted

people to vote by mail. And you indicated that many people in your area -- because the polling places are so far and they have transportation issues-- That was something that we took into consideration: people's mobility. So I just want you to carry information back for those that that is an impediment. If they are not aware that they can vote by mail, they can. And I just wanted to put that on your radar screen so you could share that with people in your community.

MR. THOMAS: Actually, I have spoken to some people about that. Unfortunately though, it's the day after, the day of the election, and they don't have time to go get that absentee ballot then. Usually around election time -- before election time -- I'm carrying them in my bag. "Here, use this. You don't have to go. If it's raining, if it's snowing, if it's bad weather, if you're hurting and you know you're going to be hurting-- Vote so it's taken care of." We need people who are going to take care of our needs. So I think that's important.

But, again, sometimes it's still difficult because they have the perception that, "It's over there. It's not mine anymore." And that's why we have to really work on this.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Thank you.

MR. THOMAS: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

Thank you, Speaker. (applause)

Following Ms. Muniz will be Richard Groves, and then Isaac Jenkins.

MARGARITA MUNIZ: Good evening, Commissioners.

My name is Margarita Muniz, and I'm President of Latinas United for Political Empowerment, which I will refer to as LUPE in my remarks.

LUPE was formally organized in 2003 with the mission of empowering Latina women to engage in the political process in order to affect public policy in areas of childcare, education, economic development, and health. We thank you and appreciate the opportunity to testify this evening.

Public hearings are an important and vital part of this process because redistricting determines who represents us and who will make public policy for the next decade. Public input into this process is crucial to ensure that the procedures for electing our representatives are more democratic and lead to greater participation.

LUPE seeks to increase the voices of Latina women in those institutions that will determine public policy in the next 10 years. The determinations made by this body will have either a positive or adverse impact on our goals. For these reasons, LUPE hopes that the Commission will consider holding additional hearings throughout the State of New Jersey; and at the same time, as heard earlier this evening, continue to post all proposals and comments, and allow for additional public participation.

Currently, there is only one Latina Senator and three Latina Assemblywomen in this state. We believe that this does not provide adequate participation by the significant population that Latinas represent in this great State of New Jersey. LUPE believes that New Jersey is in a defining moment where we can ensure that the Legislature is more reflective of the communities it serves. LUPE is steadfast on the protection of our

communities' needs -- to access health care, and to quality education. And we know that our elected officials make the difference in the delivery of those services or the lack thereof.

While we recognize that this issue is not gender-related, as Latinas we look forward to critical thinking and a democratic process that ensures Latino inclusion in both agenda and the delivery of progressive outcomes that include representation, resources, services, advocacy, and a greater engagement throughout our entire state across parties.

As the 2010 Census has determined, the Latino population has grown. Obviously, our existence and our presence is much greater. Currently, over 10 New Jersey cities have Latino populations of over 50 percent, with Union City topping this, as we all know. This data makes it imperative that our lawmaking bodies be reflective of this new reality. We are at a crossroads where Latino engagement in the political process can no longer be a matter of happenstance, but a deliberate and strategic plan of action to ensure equitable representation.

It is your mandate, and I know you know this. We know the importance of your position, of the challenges, the needs, and the concerns of all New Jersey residents. We are aware of the various interests and pressures that seek your attention. But you sit here as representatives of all of New Jersey, not as Democrats or as Republicans, but as servants to the people who live in this great state. We are hopeful that you will use this in good faith and wisdom in carrying out your charge by upholding the principles of our Constitution, our laws, and our court rulings.

We hope that my brief remarks will resonate with this Commission and result in a more equitable opportunity to empower the

people of our great State of New Jersey and the voiceless who we are charged to serve.

Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

Richard Groves, followed by Isaac Jenkins.

**RICHARD GROVES:** I had to wake my legs up. (laughter)

My name is Richard Groves. I'm a resident of West Orange, New Jersey. I'm a native of Newark and moved up to West Orange.

After listening tonight, I believe the goal of democracy is to provide equal voice and equal opportunity for all. And I was just given this information regarding our district, which is West Orange, in the 27th District. It went from 51 percent in 2000 down to 28 percent. Now, I believe that when there is no balance, there is also a lack of representation and voice. There can be discontent and lack of participation because of that.

More importantly, I think there is a trickle-down effect. And looking around the room, I see a lot of people I grew up with in Newark. And we were part of the process. Our parents brought us into the process, and so we understood that.

But I think that when there is a lack of participation in the public, that means our youth, our young, don't see a reference in the people who support them, who speak for them. They don't participate in the long run. And we won't have-- Many of us in here are getting older. We all won't live forever. So we need the young people to come up as well. That depends on representation.

In West Orange, it's a blossoming, diverse community with about 38 (*sic*) percent of the priority group. I reference *priority* because a gentleman earlier said that he didn't know what word to use with regard to minority. And I've chosen and elected to use the word *priority* because it's a positive reference, and also it speaks to the importance -- and, yes, priority -- of being represented.

More importantly, having a fair and balanced district ensures that those seeking public office will have to recognize and address the concerns of all the constituents, not just a few of them. And we cannot continue to address priority groups as one moment in time, as we talked about some of the firsts here today, which are great achievements. But we want them to be not just an exception, but the rule.

The other idea is that it just can't be one first in history. We're celebrating, right now, Black History Month, which is one month a year -- one month a year. And history -- if we understand our history, understand our future. So it should be a continuous effort to have participation throughout the year.

In closing, to the committee, you are charged with creating a process of inclusion, not exclusion, so that the priority group -- we, the priority group -- are not just first all the time, but simply a part of history.

Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Mr. Groves.

MR. GROVES: Oh, sure.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: I was a little unclear. You started your testimony by saying the 27th District used to be 51 percent. But I didn't hear you say of what. And now it's 28 percent.

MR. GROVES: Of the priority group. It was basically a 50-50 split at the time.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: The priority group being African-Americans?

MR. GROVES: Being a minority group, yes.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Okay. And now it's 28 percent?

MR. GROVES: Yes, we're down to 28 percent.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: And your preference would be to see it return to something like 51 percent? I'm trying to--

MR. GROVES: My preference would be that it be balanced. Because I believe that-- The gentleman earlier said that we all have different perspectives, no matter what we look like. But I do believe that if there's a balance in the area, you choose and you select based on your particular preference. If there's a balance -- and so when a person gets in, that means the people have spoken.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Do you think there's a balance in the 27th District now?

MR. GROVES: Well, it's now 28 percent, so, no.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: No further questions.

Mr. Jenkins, Isaac Jenkins. I don't know if he's here. (no response)

Louis Shockley, followed by Sam Spina. (no response)

No takers?

**S A M S P I N A:** Spina is here.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Oh, sorry.

MR. PALATUCCI: Mayor Spina.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Mayor Spina.

MR. SPINA: Former, former Mayor of West Orange.

Thank you.

Vision this: 30 days from now you turn your computer on, you look at the news, you pick up your newspaper, and it says, "Redistricting committee -- Commission -- unanimously decides on new districts. No need for 11th person." (laughter) It can be done. It can be done. And the two of you both said it at the beginning of the festivities here. You're looking to make the districts compact, fine; contiguous, fine. This is the 27th District, it's perfect. Demographically, there are people from all walks of life. It's a cosmopolitan community, actually. And they're all looking for one thing: good, responsive government and the ability to be able to vote for them. Make it equitable and constitutional.

And all I can say is that the 27th District -- maybe I'm partial being from West Orange, which is really the cornerstone of the district -- was represented -- is represented by Governor Codey, who, as you know, is Senator Codey now; and Assemblyman John McKeon; and Assemblywoman Mila Jasey. We're very pleased and proud of them. And we would welcome anything, Republican or Democrat, primary or not. But please keep it the same if you can.

Thank you. (applause)

MR. PALATUCCI: Mr. Chairman, can I ask the Mayor a question?

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Mr. Palatucci.

MR. PALATUCCI: Mayor, one of the things that we will struggle with in our deliberations is a balancing test of a lot of different issues. And you touched upon a couple of them, and so I want to ask you-- We've heard a lot of testimony tonight here about minority representation, and the need for more representation -- particularly for African-Americans, and Hispanics, and Asian-Americans. But at the same time, people like yourself -- former elected officials in West Orange -- would like to see continuity -- another factor. You like your legislative representatives, and that's fine. That's your right to do that.

What would be your advice to us? Is one more important than the other? Is there a way to -- for us to take that into account? What should be our priority? Is it continuity, or should it be trying to increase minority representation?

MR. SPINA: Well, if you do the right thing, one will follow the other, and Senator Codey will be right back again. (applause) But you have to do the right thing. And the district may need a little tweaking here or there to meet your requirements of population, whatever it may be. But no slash and burn, and just move this here, and move that there. That's not right, that's not fair, and that's not the way it should be. (applause)

MR. PALATUCCI: Thanks.

MR. SPINA: And West Orange, by the way, does -- or did have minority -- in fact, it still does -- minority representation on the Council. We've had some African-Americans, and we've had -- we now have a Latino.

So it can happen. It's not a case where it will never happen. No, it can happen. That's why I say it's a cosmopolitan district, and there is a lot of thought and free thinking from the people in that district.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Mayor-- I'm sorry, Bill, were you done? (affirmative response)

The last legislative redistricting go-around, did you also want to keep the 27th District the way it was, or did you support slashing and cutting it up?

MR. SPINA: I could live with it. I think at that time -- because Senator Codey was going to win anyway.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: It's driven by who the district is going to elect -- is your position?

MR. SPINA: No, no, no, no. We want the people to be able to choose who they will elect. And if you do the right thing, as I said--

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: It would be Senator Codey.  
(laughter)

MR. SPINA: --one will follow the other. And Senator -- Governor Codey will be there. (laughter)

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Because, you know, I look back and the district, before 2001, was East Orange, Montclair, Orange, Newark, and West Orange.

MR. SPINA: Right.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: The 27th looks very different today than it did 10 years ago.

MR. SPINA: Yes.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: So was that a bad-- I mean, should we go back to the '91-2000 map, or do you like this map? Which slashing and cutting is right and not right?

MR. SPINA: I like this one, because I used to serve as President of the Essex County Conference of Mayors. And I know there is a -- what's the word I'm looking for? All of the municipalities that are now in the 27th -- South Orange, Maplewood, Orange, West Orange, Livingston, Caldwell, and Fairfield -- all were part of that. They were very active. And we used to work together very well. And when we ran into a stumbling block or something, "Boop, boop, 'Senator Codey,'"-- I can't say Assemblyman McKeon, because he wasn't there at that time, or Mila Jasey either. But both of them are serving very well. They're doing an excellent job. But I think what you have is perfect.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Mayor.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Thanks, Chairman.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Mr. Shockley will be followed by Anton Wheeler and Jeff Gardner.

**LOUIS SHOCKLEY:** Good evening.

I'd like to thank everyone for having this hearing. Louis Shockley, Newark resident, born and raised.

This has been a good meeting so far. I agree with everything that was said. I would just like to get to the point of population and not just sticking with voters. I know politicians always focus on who goes out to vote.

But I'm also here to support the 27th and the 29th districts not being redistricted out. The problem with that is-- And I'm going to be a

little more frank than most of the other speakers here, as you can see by my sweatshirt. As Adam Smith said, there's the unseen hand. And we have powerbrokers here in this city, mainly out of the North Ward. I will refer you to December 28, 2010, *Star-Ledger* Editorial Board -- *Joe D's Club*. I would take a very good look at this article. And I know we have the same thing going on down in South Jersey with Mr. Norcross. So, like I said, I'm going to be a little more frank than you're used to hearing, because this needs to be said.

As we see -- look around the country -- with the Tea Party, with the Latino brothers and sisters struggling, there is a wind blowing, gentlemen and ladies. Okay? And people are tired of politics as usual. People want results from their legislators and from their local communities. And we're not getting that here in Newark, nor are we getting it in Essex County. Okay?

Now, again, black and Latino faces in high places don't always get results, again, because of the unseen hands and the unseen forces, and the powerbrokers pulling and cutting deals. Okay? Because it happens too much. And the majority of the people are left out. That's why your educational system is broken, that's why your political system is broken, and that's why the economy is now broken. Okay?

So, again, this disenfranchisement has gone on for many generations in the African and Latino community. It does not mean just because you put a Latino or an African-American in place-- Senator Codey, as I know, has been a very great Senator. He has supported Newark over the years. (applause) And he has done a great job. But again, because of forces that have been knocking and trying to pull him down -- as well as

Assemblyman Giblin. These are some of the problems that we have that have been going on in this city and in Essex County for far too long.

I worked at Passaic Valley Sewage Commission. As all of you well know -- what's been taking place down there. I give kudos. Take my thanks back to the Governor, because I gave him that tip and told him to look at it down there. The only person I could get to look at Passaic Valley was Weinberg. Both Democrat and Republican governors -- no one wanted to look at that money pit down at Passaic Valley, no one but Senator Weinberg. Okay? Lou Greenwald did try to help out in some efforts, and so did Senator Codey try to help out in some efforts. Okay? But everybody else didn't want to touch it. Okay?

But I'm just here to support, like I said, the 27th and 29th districts. Again, we cannot allow these districts to be about friendships, partisanship, connections, and all this kind of stuff. Seriously, I hope you people really look at this editorial article. It is mind blowing. December 28, 2010 -- and I suggest that the audience look at it as well and read. And take that into consideration when you're cutting up these districts and hurting our black and Latino people. And if you want to do a quick Q and A with me, I would welcome it. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you.

MR. SHOCKLEY: No takers? (no response)

Okay, thank you very much.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you very much.  
(applause)

Last call for Anton Wheeler.

Is Mr. Wheeler here?

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: No, he left.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Okay. Jeff Gardner, followed by Windale Simpson.

**J E F F G A R D N E R:** Hi, I'm Jeff Gardner. I'm from the great Borough of Hawthorne. I'm the Democratic Chairman there, and I'm also from the County of Passaic and the great 35th District. And it's a matter of public record that I actually intend to challenge my incumbent Senator in the 35th District this year. And I wanted to address that point with all of you, because it dovetails with some of the concerns that members of a variety of underrepresented communities mentioned tonight in terms of a disconnect between the number of people who are living in a particular district and the representation that they have been able to achieve in the Legislature.

And one of the reasons is because there are assorted institutional impediments to actually being elected to the Legislature. And I am hoping that we will not have an artificial one this year created by the timing of the process that is going on here with this committee. You're doing, obviously, very, very important work. It only happens every 10 years, and you're not going to want to rush through it. You're going to want to include the public as much as possible. But there is also a ticking clock with a June primary and, currently, an early April filing date.

I would ask that you please expedite the process by taking certain steps, including acknowledging what we all know to be the case -- and that is that an 11th member is almost certainly going to need to be appointed, and that person should be here right now, if he's not. He should definitely be here right now because that is going to be an awful lot of

power invested in one person. And it would be a real shame if that one person, who ultimately will have decision-making power, will not have even been in this room to hear any of the concerns that have been expressed tonight, did not hear any of the concerns expressed in Toms River. And at some point, when it becomes obvious to the members of this committee that, in fact, an 11th member is going to be needed -- I think it's obvious to a lot of people not on the committee already, and I suspect it may be obvious to a good number of the people sitting here. It's time to include that 11th person so we can get to a finished map in time for, I confess, people like me; but also other potential candidates out there, many of them from underrepresented communities who are going to need more than a week to gather the signatures, and the endorsements, and the support that they need to launch credible races for the Legislature. All the concerns mentioned about underrepresentation will mean nothing if viable candidates in well-drawn districts have no time to actually put together a campaign in this year -- legislative year. So that's point one.

And, luckily, I only have one other point, and it is -- it's what, I think, is fairly obvious, and it builds on what a number of the folks testifying tonight mentioned with regard to using the population figures versus voter turnout figures in this process.

This happens every 10 years. That's not a number plucked out of thin air. It's because we have a Census every 10 years, and this process is based on that Census. The Census counts the population, it does not analyze the voter turnout in a particular year to the advantage of one party or another. And you're here because we just had that Census that delivered

to you population numbers. And the argument that your decisions should be based on something other than that is a waste of time.

That's all I have to say. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

MR. GARDNER: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: A second call for Windale Simpson.

Is Mr. Simpson here? (no response)

Alan Lewis, followed by Tomas Gomez.

ALAN LEWIS: I'm Alan Lewis.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Please.

MR. LEWIS: I'm Alan Lewis, a private citizen from Fairlawn.

Mr. Chairmen, all too often the shape of districts that result from commissions like this do not give the public confidence. The people in this-- It makes sense to the people in this room, but not the general public outside. In view of the rancorous nature of politics that we've seen in this country lately, I ask you, number one, yes, to take cognizance of all the speakers before me. Their concerns are legitimate and, without question, you should weigh them.

But also, when the map is finally released, think of the general public -- that I wish for there to be confidence of the public that the system works, that they have good people representing them. And I ask before you release it to just look at it not as members of government now, but just as -- what would your wife think or your husband think when you bring it home? Will they say to you, "What were you thinking when you did this?"

or will they say, "This really makes sense for the people." Before you release that map, that's what I ask you to do -- is just-- Is this something that will give the general public confidence in the sense and sensibility of their government? (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you. Thank you for your testimony.

Mr. Gomez.

**T O M A S R. G O M E Z:** Yes.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: And he will be followed by Janine Bauer, and then Donna Jackson.

MR. GOMEZ: Good evening, ladies and gentlemen.

My name is Tom Gomez. I'm representing the DOPOR, the Dominican Political Representation, out of Paterson.

Members of this committee, I want to thank you for bringing to our community, to our door such an important process in such a very open and democratic way, and so available to all of us to be able to participate. Because it's a very important process.

(indiscernible) know it occurred every 10 years, as the gentleman just said, it's not by magic. It's because it's affected by the Census, and the primary data used to execute this process is the Census by the population of the legislative district.

I believe that the process is such a complex and intricate process there is no way possible to have a system that will satisfy every single one of our wish lists. But it has to be taken into consideration to maintain and to preserve the constitutional integrity of the process which already has been established.

I believe that different communities, regardless of the ethnic background -- because we came. We have to create an equal process where opportunities are given for us to go get it. The map has to be drawn in such a way -- take into consideration many different issues: the required amount of population within each district--

And therefore the political process should continue, enforced by the candidates, political activists, and community leaders. Because it's also an educational process for us to teach -- teaches such a valuable -- items that we have and that are so underused, which is the privilege to vote. It's such an important process to enhance the effectiveness of what we're trying to, here -- doing today. If we don't vote, we can draw that line in many different ways, and it's not going to work. And once someone is elected in a community, you are represented. You might not be well represented because of the quality of the candidate that you elect, but you are represented because a majority of the people voted for that person.

So, ladies and gentlemen, let's all work in a way that we can come out, at the end of the day, with a map where we all will have the opportunity to be equally and fairly represented. By drawing those lines at the end of the day, that map will be a reflection of what the Garden State is made out of.

Thank you very much. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

Second call for Janine Bauer. Janine Bauer. (no response)

Donna Jackson, followed by Paul Perreira.

Ms. Jackson.

**DONNA JACKSON:** Good evening.

I'm familiar to many of you: Donna Jackson, Newark resident, New Jersey hell-raiser. (laughter)

I am totally opposed to you guys redistricting my district for several reasons. You're only doing it because the powerbrokers at the top of Essex County are telling you to. Mr. Aduato, Mr. DiVincenzo would like to control my area of the West Ward, where I have someone who doesn't go along to get along. That's the way I want to keep it. If it's not Codey, maybe it will be me. But leave me the option to have that. I don't need you guys to now get involved in this political mess, that is now involved in this state, and now have all of your efforts and your energy-- You can fight on this, but you're not fighting what's going on in Trenton your own selves. But now everybody wants to come here, and you want to make hell in Essex County. I'm not going to sit back and allow that.

I know this is already a done deal, because the Godfather already told you guys what you're going to do. (applause) There is no one in this room that is from that grassroots level that even thinks that this hearing is here just other than for a formality. You're just doing it to be doing it because you've already been issued your orders. We understand how politics works in this state. We understand that there are very few of you left in this state and in this country who are independent.

So as we sit here today, and people come up and are talking about, "Oh well, we need to have more Latinos, we need to have four blacks over here, seven Asians on this side, four Jamaicans over there, whatever," at the end of the day, for me, it doesn't have anything to do with color. I

need somebody who is going to stand up. Unfortunately, I don't have any of those.

You guys are involved in all this stuff that's going on. I'm talking about right now -- with Newark closing nine schools. You aren't moving Codey. You're not moving Codey. I'm not losing one in Essex County right now with the battle I have going on. If "Krispy Kreme" (*sic*) was talking about closing schools in your district, you'd be just as mad, and upset, and aggravated as I am. (applause) But "Krispy" (*sic*) isn't messing with you yet.

But what I need to let everybody know today -- and this is not me being on my soapbox. We've got 600 school districts in the State of New Jersey. Many of you don't even know your own districts aren't certified. And out of 600, only 37 have certification. So for me, right now, the black and white is that, guess what, yes, the urban areas are suffering, but so are the suburban. Your kid is using drugs just like my kid is using drugs. Your kids are fighting and stealing cars just like my kids. They call it *joyriding* if they do it in Verona, in Newark it's a *carjacking*. What's the difference if you've got kids that are 15 and 16 years old that are doing the exact same thing? But because this kid up the hill has on a red bandana and the one down the hill has on a red bandana -- simply because this mother only has \$20,000 and the mother up the hill has \$100,000 -- we're talking about different criminals here. No, I don't think so.

And that, at the end of the day, is what this is all about. You guys think you could push poor people around. Well, let me tell you something. You better watch CNN, and you better watch it close. Because if the people in this city, the people in this state who -- you guys are kicking

our butts every day -- and I'm talking about teachers, I'm talking about people who work and people who don't work. When we get tired of your foot on our neck, we're going to take a page from Egypt, and we're going to show you guys that we have had enough of not being represented -- all of you. It doesn't matter what color you are. Trenton, right now, sucks. The kids in school are talking about you guys, because you're not representing them either. Nobody is getting anything, suburban, urban, or rural. You're not servicing anybody.

But now you want to come in Essex County, and you want to play this game with Steve. And at the end of the day, Donna don't care. Steve can take me to court, you can take me to court. I call the name when it's time, because I've done my homework. Mr. Adubato does not rule all of Essex County. I live in the West Ward. I'm in the 27th District. And everybody else can be scared to say it, but I'm telling you all here today: You were given your marching orders; you will not follow them, or we will do what we have to do on this side. We are not ready, in the 27th District, to put somebody who is a yes-man in that seat. None of you aren't knowing Christie about nothing. But I am not willing to put a yes-man, when it comes to stuff in Essex County, in that seat right now. I have enough battling you. I'm not going to battle someone else in that seat who has no idea what is going on in my community, who is not familiar, who does not know what's going on -- not just Newark, West Orange either. We are all hurting.

So at the end of the day, I know you have your marching orders. I know. You elect and make decisions based on what you guys are told. It's not what you want to do, it's what you can do. You have allowed

this Governor to come in here and choke every one of you. And since you have done that, today, I'm telling you since the second Godfather is giving you another order-- Donna is telling you today, "Don't follow it, or it comes with consequences." Because we can remove some of you in June.  
(applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Second call for Paul  
Perreira. (no response)

Francisco González, followed by Carlos Lucio.  
Francisco.

**FRANCISCO GONZÁLEZ:** Good evening.

My name is Francisco González, and I'm an elected Board of Education member in the City of Elizabeth, the largest independently run district in the State of New Jersey.

I start off with saying that because our school district is a provider of excellent education, it has received the accolades of many national foundations and corporate entities, such as the Panasonic Foundation, Merck, and the Broad Foundation.

I'm also happy to report that our school district has seen achievement grow, with many of our schools having higher performance rates than the New Jersey state average. Elizabeth also has a high school with the second highest achievement rate in the County of Union.

I believe that is something New Jersey legislators should be proud of. Unfortunately, the children of Elizabeth have been targeted with lower school funding, cutting of programs, and a large amount of audits as a result of the efforts on the part of some to use politics instead of fighting for the children.

What does this mean? What does this have to do with you? Well, your decisions have tremendous implications for towns all over New Jersey that need representation that is more representative of their community.

I would like to recognize the efforts of Assemblyman Cryan, one of the only representatives for the legislative delegation that has visited our schools. Someone who lives in the community, knows the community, cares about the children, and will be an active part of what is taking place in our schools would be a better representation of the cultural makeup of our city. Your board has the opportunity to right a wrong.

And we thank you for your time. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

Carlos.

He will be followed by Yalitza Torres.

**CARLOS LUCIO:** Good evening.

I'm glad that I waited this long, because the lady who spoke before Mr. González told me outside the door that we didn't know about half -- about this process. But I've learned a lot by being here all this time. So I kind of, like, rewrote my testimony.

I would like to thank you for your commitment to ensure that these legislative boundaries are fair for everyone during these procedures.

I want to give you a little brief history that perhaps represents Carlos Lucio, and perhaps the majority of the Hispanics in the City of Elizabeth. My family and I came from a country where democracy has been

fragile for decades. Fairness and an equality of representation are new concepts in this part of the world. However, Latin America has made progress. But though there is so much to do, we are afflicted with fewer dictatorships than before.

But in New Jersey, like the rest of the continent, democracy is functioning, supported by a broad consensus where we respect legality, we continue to have the freedom to criticize, we have a process of election and succession in power. That is the right road, and if we stay on it, it will continue to integrate New Jersey with the rest of the world.

I never felt like an immigrant in New Jersey for the above reasons. And because of our great democracy, I always felt like home -- a place where I can live in peace, work, learn things, and continue to nurture my dreams. Frankly, this is what every great citizen of New Jersey knows about their state -- in that the scale of democracy is not tipped in favor of any political party during this process.

From Camden County to Bergen County, a dramatic shift has taken place in the makeup of our state population. With communities with such (indiscernible) powers for Hispanic communities, especially in the City of Elizabeth, I feel and I know that it would be fair to say that democracy can continue to shine when places like Elizabeth and the County of Union have a more accurate reflection of our community represent--

During these procedures, I hope you consider the City of Elizabeth due to the fact that our Hispanic population needs to receive the proper representation -- especially in the City of Elizabeth.

Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

Yalitza Torres.

**YALITZA TORRES:** Good evening.

My name is Yalitza Torres, and I am an educator with the Elizabeth Public School District.

I come before you today to speak to you on a topic that is of extraordinary significance to the most delicate individuals in the State of New Jersey, our children.

As an educator, I've seen the challenges that the children of urban cities face in an effort to go to school, walk the straight and narrow, and to ultimately pursue the American dream.

Many individuals have appealed to this body to address the need for adequate representation, have cited the large populations of Latinos that emanate from places like Union City, Elizabeth, Perth Amboy, to name a few.

I am part of that growing statistic. It is important to note that your board will look at -- or analyze the 2010 Census data and, hopefully, also recognize that the trend lines and the increase in Latino population will continue to grow rapidly and move upward. So the decision -- I'm a little nervous -- the decision to be made is not only for the present, but with a keen eye on the future. And in the end, we know that little to no representation exists and that changes must be made.

Elections are created to be fair. And let us recognize the stakes that Latino children have in the decisions you render as to whether they are ensured representation. But the facts speak for themselves. In the district

that Elizabeth is comprised of, there is little -- lack of proper representation in the State office. Hopefully for those who are there now and who are elected in the future-- Hopefully the representatives will be able to rely on the force and will that only an honest election can bring.

Why do I say this? I look at our schools and the effect that the years of politically motivated attacks on our school districts -- the attack on funding that began many, many years ago -- and they upset me. Yes, we need adequate Latino and Latina representation in the Senate and in the Assembly. But even more important is not only -- the responsibility that you, the members of the Commission, have in designing a fair district where the real decision to elect someone is in the hands of the people -- the very people who have the best interest of our children first.

Thank you. (applause)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

Next up will be Anna Rivera, followed by Florencia Scuderi and John Arvanites.

**ANNA “CUQUI” RIVERA:** Thank you.

I would just like to know how you do the list, because I was the first one here.

Thank you, members of the Commission, for holding this hearing here today.

My name is Anna “Cuqui” Rivera, and I am employed by La Casa de Don Pedro as the Case Manager for the Newark Prisoner Reentry Program; the owner and moderator of New Jersey Community and Corrections Working Summit at Yahoo! Groups, which is a news listserv

with a membership at this moment nearing 2,000; and a board member of the Latino Action Network; and also a member of the New Jersey Integrated Justice Alliance, a solution-oriented group of organizations that generates and supports effective public policy before, during, and after incarceration in New Jersey.

We are here this evening to add the weight of our voices to the concerns about prison-based gerrymandering that were raised by other members of our organization during both the Camden and the Toms River hearings.

Tonight we would like to reiterate to the Commission the serious threats to the principles of democratic government that are inherent in prison-based gerrymandering. At the same time, we would like to extend the discussion and present some concrete examples of why prison-based gerrymandering should be a concern for all of us interested in the process of fair representation, and offer the Commission some solutions to fix the problem.

I'm going to skip the next paragraph to not be repetitive.

As you heard in previous hearings, the Census Bureau counts incarcerated people as residents of the prison location, even though they cannot vote and are often not a part of the community that surrounds that prison. As a result, assigning incarcerated people to the Census block that contains the prison, rather than the Census block that contains their home address, results in a significant enhancement of the weight of a vote cast in districts with prisons and dilutes the votes of all other residents in all other districts of the state.

There is simply no question that to count people who are not truly residents as part of the population of a district is, on the very face of it, undemocratic. But in New Jersey, where almost 80 percent of the roughly 24,000 people in State prison are African-American or Latino, this practice has additional and grave implications.

Please consider the facts. According to the New Jersey Department of Corrections, nearly two-thirds of the State prison population in 2010 came from Essex or Camden County alone, while over 30 percent of the State prison population was sent to prisons in Cumberland County, a county where only 2 percent of its residents themselves are incarcerated. Additional data from the Department of Corrections show that while Essex and Camden are on the top counties of prison admissions, Cumberland, Burlington, and Mercer counties house the largest proportion of the total State prison populations, with Cumberland County housing State prisoners at almost three times the rate of all other counties in the state.

Indeed, many of us from Essex County have felt the devastating impact of incarceration on our neighborhoods. For example, in 2004, according to the Prison Policy Initiative, Essex County alone was home to 18 percent of New Jersey's prisoners, but only 9.4 percent of the state's population. At that time, only 11 percent of the State prisons' cells were actually located in Essex County.

We are here tonight to remind you that the Commission is not powerless to fix this. As you learned, our neighbors in Maryland, New York, and Delaware have all passed legislation last year to adjust Census data for redistricting purposes. And just last Friday, the Virginia state legislature -- I'm sorry, I'm a little nervous -- unanimously passed a bill in

the state assembly that would empower more counties to avoid prison-based gerrymandering. New Jersey should join these states in giving each resident equal access to government.

We also want to highlight for you that New Jersey has already taken a step in this direction. As you know, New Jersey law requires school board districts to exclude the prison population when apportioning school boards that have nine or more members.

Equally important, we want to again address the myth that the Legislature and the Commission is required, by law, to use Census data that miscounts prisoners. And we will resubmit for the record the fact sheet that shows how states are authorized to adjust Census data when redistricting.

We are mindful that the clock is ticking and that our options may be limited. Ideally, the New Jersey State Legislature would pass legislation that requires prisoners to be counted at their home addresses -- be counted at their home addresses. But there are interim solutions that we want to reiterate tonight. First, you could declare that all people who have been counted as residents of the correctional facilities have been counted there incorrectly. Since we do not have correct home addresses, the Commission could, instead, declare prisoners' addresses unknown and treat them as at-large members of the state and not in any particular district.

Finally, to show that it is possible to find out where folks in State prisons are currently located, we took a minute before the hearing today to ask our experts to determine where the 2010 Census counted people in just one of the 12, now, State prisons. And in time for our remarks this evening, they were able to determine that in 2010, for example, the New Jersey State Prison in Mercer County was counted on

Block 1000, Tract 002400, which included 1,899 people in that prison as part of the Census Block and Tract.

We understand that this is just one Block and Tract within the larger context of the state. However, there are only 12 prisons in New Jersey at this time, we are confident that New Jersey can properly locate and count the populations of these facilities even within a highly compressed timeframe.

Once again, at the Alliance we stand prepared to work closely with you to identify which populations in which Census Blocks are incarcerated, to ensure a fair count and to ensure that political representation is neither enhanced nor diminished by the location of prisons.

And I am also -- at last to say that I am a newly -- recently arrived official resident of Newark, New Jersey, as well.

Thank you.

Any questions? (no response)

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you very much for your testimony.

MS. RIVERA: I gave it to you. I will upload it to your website if you'd like.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Please.

MS. RIVERA: Thank you very much for your time. Please hear our voices.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Please give a copy to the OLS aide sitting right next to you.

MS. RIVERA: I did, and one for all of you.

Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Next we have Florencia Scuderi, followed by John Arvanites.

Florencia.

**FLORENCIA SCUDERI:** Good evening.

My name is Florencia Scuderi.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Speak up.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: You have to go real close to the microphone. (referring to PA microphone)

MS. SCUDERI: Hello. Good evening.

My name is Florencia Scuderi, and I am here to testify as an Elizabeth resident.

I have noticed an increased-- I have noticed an improvement in the students' grades, but I have also noticed a huge problem with the funding they are receiving. Great grades should have great rewards.

Taking away Spanish classes and many other courses, such as Journalism, is not beneficial to the students. Personally, I have found that Journalism is the career for me, but I found out -- but I found that out my senior year of high school. So if the students, now, don't get that chance, where are they going to be tomorrow?

I also wanted to talk about how now, more than ever, there is an increase in the minority population. So shouldn't there be an increase in minority districts that will better represent these communities?

I noticed that many topics were repeated here tonight. And I wanted you to keep in mind that if many residents have these things in mind, they must be very important.

Thank you for your time.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

John Arvanites; followed by Craig Sawyer, HANDS, Inc.

**J O H N A R V A N I T E S:** I'm John Arvanites, former mayor and councilman of Roseland.

I just want to say that I'd like to support the comments that our Speaker Oliver, and Senator Ruiz, and the other individuals -- Bob Davison, from West Caldwell -- earlier had supported.

I just wanted to add one other thing to some of the comments that we heard this evening. I'm a CPA, and one of the principles we work on is consistency. And I would tend to believe that some of the districts we have in our state maybe don't need to be adjusted. And I'm sure that in the work that you're putting in, and the hours that you're putting in, you will see that. And if they don't need to be adjusted -- that we won't make any adjustments. Because in the accounting world, the reason why we're consistent is so that the representation that we give to people, in the form of financial statements -- that it doesn't get confusing.

And so in certain districts, if you take half of the district and leave it, and flip-flop it, that now they're representing -- the current representatives or any new individuals who might be representing are representing a totally different district. It kind of makes it difficult, I think, and unfair to the residents of that district. It also makes it difficult for people who might be interested in running and getting to know those potential constituents, getting to know the issues in those municipalities. I believe somebody earlier, who is looking to run for a Senate position, is

coming up with that. If that person is going to run, if the district changes now, getting up to speed on how to properly represent those individuals -- I think that now puts that person into a bad position, and it's an unfair position to try to represent such a district.

And in our district -- and in serving in Roseland -- I was fortunate that in the last 10 years that, in a bipartisan voice, we thanked our representatives from the Federal government, all the way down to our county government. And we were fortunate that we were able to work together, in a bipartisan manner, to accomplish many things with the assistance of all of our representatives.

But I just wanted to leave you with the word of *consistency*. And if that could be a principle that we use -- complying with the law, as well. Because I know there are certain rules and regulations that have to be adhered to in the redistricting process. But in the sense of districts that maybe are working -- that we leave those.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Chairman.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Yes, Chairman Webber.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: You're a former mayor, right?

MR. ARVANITES: My term ended in December.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: All right, so, Mayor -- I'll call you Mayor -- on this point of what a challenger does with a new district-- I think it was Mr. Gardner -- I think is his name -- who lives in Hawthorne, considering challenging Senator Girgenti. It seems to me -- and I wanted to get your view on this to talk about it a little bit. It seems to me that changing the district fairly significantly would assist the challenger, not hurt the challenger. If Mr. Gardner, for example, is going to go up against a

long-time incumbent Senator in Senator Girgenti -- who has served that district for years, and years, and years -- then changing the composition of the district would give the challenger a better opportunity, because the Senator wouldn't be as well entrenched in the new communities that are coming into his district. And so I actually take the opposite away from the possibility of changing the districts up and how that affects challengers.

Do you see my point? Do you have a different view of--

MR. ARVANITES: I do see your point, and it's fair. And part of me feels the same way. But on the flip side, as-- Again, as an elected official in a small town, maybe I pay attention more when I'm driving around the state. But I tend to know who the incumbents are in other districts. When they're running you see their literature, you see their billboards, you see their lawn signs up. So the name recognition that some people have who are already in a legislative position-- I think it gives them a little bit more advantage over somebody who is new coming in, especially if somebody has been in for a long period of time, as well. The name recognition of some of those legislators, I think, might give an undue advantage to them rather than a new person.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Right. So if you take that incumbent out of his normal district and put him in different towns, his name ID advantage is reduced, right?

MR. ARVANITES: Well, no, because the name recognition is still there, and that name recognition carries over to -- outside of your--

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Outside of the district?

MR. ARVANITES: I believe so.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: Thanks.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Mayor.

MR. ARVANITES: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Craig Sawyer.

Craig, are you still here? (no response)

Maria Teresa Feliciano, Dominican American National Roundtable.

**MARIA TERESA FELICIANO:** Good evening, Chairmen, members of the Commission.

When you've waited this long and heard so many speakers, chances are someone already said what you're going to say -- what you are going to say. But I will summarize my statement and just go over a couple of points.

On behalf of the Dominican American National Roundtable, I would like to thank you for the opportunity to address the Commission regarding the upcoming redistricting of New Jersey's 40 Legislative Districts.

We understand that the issue before this Commission is the redistricting of New Jersey's districts, and would like the Commission to consider the following in their quest to design maps that would lead to accurate representation of all of New Jersey's communities.

There are now substantial Hispanic populations in almost every one of our state's 21 counties. Hispanics are represented in every age group, every profession, every level of educational attainment, and every level of income in New Jersey. There are 24 persons of color in the New Jersey 120-member Legislature. To get to a Legislature that, in numbers, is representative of the new Census, we would nearly have to double that

number. Latinos are dramatically underrepresented in the New Jersey State Legislature. Furthermore, Latinos are not fairly represented in many of the communities where they reside throughout New Jersey's 566 municipalities.

It is clear from the geographic distribution of minority populations across the state, the best opportunity to elect a Legislature that looks like the Garden State is by drawing a map that grouping Latinos in districts would favor them electing Latino candidates. Unpacking can fracture the voting strength of Latino communities as, in some cases, would keeping the town integrity would do. Unpacking would definitely dilute our strength. As the lady resident from Elizabeth said before me, we're not being packed in these cities, we live in these cities.

We propose a legislative district that will help our communities of interest -- of Passaic specifically, and Paterson -- to elect candidates of their choice. Passaic, for example, where 71 percent of the population is Latino and, by the way, whose delegation has no Latinos, should be the center of a Latino district. These communities are represented -- are separated in districts and represented by different people, by different legislators.

This Commission should take notice that one important demographic characteristic in this area is the increased population of Latinos in Legislative Districts 35 and 36. Passaic has moved from 62 percent of Hispanics in 2000 to 71 percent in 2010. Paterson's Hispanic population has increased, while the total population had decreased. In 2010, the population decreased by 3,023, while Latinos increased by 9,494. Now Paterson Latinos represent 57 percent of the city, up from 50 percent in 2000.

The majority of Latinos in Legislative Districts 35 and 36 live along the corridor that goes from the City of Passaic to the City of Paterson. I understand that town integrity prevents Paterson and Passaic to be united. We would have to go through Clifton. But this is an idea that would group these two cities. The New Jersey redistricting Commission should consider creating a legislative district in this area. The Voting Rights Act provides for keeping together the votes of minority groups in districts, that they may elect candidates of their choice.

Another suggestion that is new, I guess, because I haven't heard it tonight, is that given the short amount of time we have to agree on a map and the fast-approaching primary in June, the Legislature might want to consider pushing the primary to September to allow communities more time to adjust to the new map.

We look forward to working with the Commission to contribute in your effort, and make sure that New Jersey achieves a fair and constitutional redistricting.

Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

Majority Leader Cryan.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: Hi, how are you? How are you doing? Hello.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Ma'am, we have some questions.

MS. FELICIANO: Oh, I'm sorry.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: I have a question for you, if that's okay.

Thank you for your testimony. It was wonderful.

In 2000 -- in the previous map -- do you know the Hispanic population, the Latino population statewide, percentage wise, by any chance?

MS. FELICIANO: In 2000, the Census said that we were maybe over 800,000 in New Jersey.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: Do you know what? It's about 13 percent about 10 years ago.

MS. FELICIANO: Right, it was 13 percent.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: And now it's about 17.

MS. FELICIANO: Now it's 18.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: So I just want to ask you for a moment or two about representation, because it's very important. In your notes you said that as the population is growing, in fact, that there is Latino population in just about every municipality in New Jersey. As a matter of fact, I think we heard earlier, only three don't.

MS. FELICIANO: Except three.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: Do you happen-- I just want to give you some figures so that you have some balance here as you look at things. Do you happen to know-- I don't want to say it that way because that's not fair. There are 71 Democrats elected out of the 120 members of the Legislature. I doubt you're really impressed with that, but the reality is that-- And we heard last week, in Camden, that seven members of the Legislature are Latino or Latina.

Now, all seven of those have one characteristic in common: they're all Democrats. Seven over 71 is 10 percent. So if you take a map that is based at that type of percentage-- It started at 13 percent Latino population, and in the end -- the final judgement -- how did the map come out? We got to 10 percent, at least, as one political party; when, in fact, to your comments and to many others, there has been Latino growth populations literally throughout this state.

How would you suggest then, when it's pretty -- when it seems to me that one group has, at least, certainly taken an aggressive approach in trying to meet the equal representation of a community based on population, and one hasn't-- Where would you suggest, outside-- How would you feel if I told you that packing had a concern for someone like myself and for some of us in the committee in particular -- that we may, in fact, lose the influence of those seven who are there with the hopes of gaining more because, in fact, it's skewed to one party? How would you feel about that?

MS. FELICIANO: Well, first, definitely the Democratic party has been a lot more aggressive along -- either welcoming or effective in outreaching the Latino community. A word to the Republicans: You need to do outreaching.

I say-- I'm not an expert in how one party or population would be represented. I do know that representation by a candidate of your choice -- that is of similar background, that has commonalities with you -- is more effective. Regarding the grouping or the packing-- I'm saying, we're not packing people anywhere. We're not bringing them anywhere. We

already are there. So designing a district that represents people where they are, by a candidate of their choice, makes sense to me.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: But where--

MS. FELICIANO: I'm sorry.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: No, go ahead.

MS. FELICIANO: By spreading the different districts, it would be diluting their influence.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: Okay. So your concern, for example, is that if a population -- that, by your own comments -- is spread throughout this state -- it's somehow -- and, as a matter of fact, not in three municipalities, as we heard earlier, so therefore in 563 of them -- it's somehow diluted unless we pack it. Is that essentially what happens?

MS. FELICIANO: No, I'm saying that in cities and places we are concentrated, such as Elizabeth, as was said before, and Passaic, we should be -- we should have a Latino district.

ASSEMBLYMAN CRYAN: Okay. And I just want to leave you with this comment, because you were so effective in your comments.

You know, the reality is, you have to look at the 10 years. You know, we heard time and time again here from folks who said, "This is a map that happens after a Census every 10 years." The reality is that one group -- and I'm not going to be shy about this -- has a record to be proud of, whether it's a Hispanic Speaker who became a Hispanic Congressman, whether it's in a percentage of representation that comes pretty darn close to the map it started with. And, frankly, one has a lot more work to do.

So when we look at numbers -- and as you speak about them -- let's try to factor in the fact that some have, and some have more to do.

MS. FELICIANO: Oh, no, that's-- Definitely, I agree with you. But I would like this Commission to consider representation of communities of interest, or our groups, rather than a political party or the other.

As a matter of fact, the gentleman who spoke about competitive districts has a very interesting idea that I won't go into. It's a little too late, and I'm not an expert. But I kind of like that. But, again, what I want -- what we want this Commission to keep in mind is that where we are -- the cities where we are in substantial numbers should be represented by one of us -- is what I'm saying.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Speaker Oliver.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Yes, I have a question. And I do agree that we have seen phenomenal growth. Now, one of the previous speakers who gave testimony spoke to, for instance, Dover, a community that I've been familiar with for a long, long time. And I have been involved in health care, in social services delivery, etc. Now, that is not-- That is a very large Hispanic population; it is not concentrated in an urban city. Is it your premise that we should look at areas like Morris County, where there has been phenomenal growth and that there should be the opportunity for competitive districts to be created? Because certainly population is concentrated other places.

I can look at Asbury Park, I can look at Monmouth. But the difficulty with focusing in, in my opinion, on just the "major" cities where everyone thinks the minority population lives-- I think in my experience in this state, when I look at the Hispanic community, I see significant population from one end of the state to the other. I don't understand why

you feel the focus should merely be on the large urban population centers. And you said communities of interest. Without question, the Hispanic community represents every level of education, every level of socioeconomic status, entrepreneurship, etc. And that population lives everywhere.

MS. FELICIANO: I agree with you. I'm not saying we should only concentrate here. But I think that cities -- and I will take Passaic, for example, because it's one that is one of those major ones that is 71 percent Latino. Wouldn't you say, for example, that Passaic has more in common, as a city, as a population with Paterson than with Carlstadt, Moonachie, and Woodbridge, for example? Wouldn't those interests be more close to each other? And wouldn't those communities provide the opportunity for Latino representation, for example?

This is not to say we ignore the growth in population everywhere else, like in Dover, where you mentioned. But why not attempt to bring equality or fairness in representation in towns or in areas where we do have a chance to do that by the numbers?

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: I don't quite-- I can't wrap my arms around that, because I think it also speaks to the issue-- And previous speakers have also placed data on the record that-- Do we reduce down to only African-Americans can speak for and represent African-Americans; only Hispanics can speak for and represent Hispanics; and only Caucasians can speak for and represent Caucasians?

MS. FELICIANO: There are occasions when that's not the case. And the example of Senator Brian Stack was brought up. It was a good one. But for the most part, I would say communities and people

should be represented by someone who shares their background, who they are, their interests. That's the best representation that you could have.

ASSEMBLYWOMAN OLIVER: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

MS. FELICIANO: Thank you.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Jose Sandoval.

**J O S E M. S A N D O V A L:** Good evening, ladies and gentlemen.

Good evening, Madam Speaker, Commissioners.

My name is Jose Sandoval. I'm from Passaic, New Jersey. I'm here to testify that we need a change. Some of the changes that we're looking at--

When I look at the City of Passaic, it's a city of 3.5 square miles, with one mile of park. We have 71 percent increase in the Spanish populations.

You know, on Sunday, just like everybody else, I was trying to get some snacks for the Super Bowl. I took my kids to a take-out food-- And about four kids come in. And my son -- 15 years old -- said (indiscernible) the neighborhood. One of the things I can tell you is that we have 44 gangs, according to the Sheriff's Department and Prosecutor's Office in the City of Passaic. The school system is in shambles. Each child costs \$17,000. You take any of those kids, and they don't know how to read and write -- grammar, syntaxes. They don't have a clue what that is.

So, we need a change. The people who represent us -- the City Council or the Administration -- it's a fraud. They don't have a clue. The only thing they know how to do is raise taxes. Last year I paid, in the City

of Passaic, on the properties that I own, \$65,000. The only thing the City of Passaic does for me is collect my garbage twice a week. There's no quality of life, there is nothing for the children to do, there is nothing going on. And some of the representatives that we have there -- even the one that we have living there -- they don't know some of the names of the cities, or the streets, or anything -- what's going on. And that is why I am here to testify that we need to make a change.

Thank you very much. If there are any questions, I'd be happy to answer them.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you for your testimony.

I have two slips that are left, both from BlueWave New Jersey, and I know they testified earlier. I don't know if these are duplicates or a request for additional testimony. (no response)

Seeing no one from BlueWave -- Ann Rea and Linda Halper -- we have no other individuals signed up to testify.

Just for everyone's edification, we will meet again on Sunday, February 13, at 1:00 p.m., in Jersey City, in the Culinary Conference Center, Scott Ring Room, 2nd Floor, 161 Newkirk Street, Hudson Community College.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE: Could you make that announcement again, please?

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: I will. Sunday, the 13th, 1:00 p.m., at the Hudson Community College, which is located at 161 Newkirk Street, in Jersey City. We will be in the Culinary Conference Center, Scott Ring Room, 2nd Floor.

Assemblywoman Cruz-Perez.

MS. CRUZ-PEREZ: Mr. Chairman, I just want to clarify for the record. When I was speaking earlier today I said that the first African-American was elected in 1989. It was actually 1982. My apologies. I just wanted to make sure it was right for the record -- 1982.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: Thank you, Assemblywoman.

With no other business, motion to adjourn.

ASSEMBLYMAN WEBBER: So moved.

ASSEMBLYMAN WISNIEWSKI: All in favor? (affirmative responses)

**(MEETING CONCLUDED)**